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Founded in 1989, the National Association of People with HIV Australia (NAPWHA) 

is Australia’s peak non-government organisation representing community-based 
groups of people living with HIV (PLHIV). Through leadership in advocacy, policy, 

health promotion, representation, education, and prevention, NAPWHA strives 
to minimise the adverse personal and social effects of HIV. By championing the 

participation of people living with HIV at all levels of the national response we aim to 
build a positive future for all in our communities.

NAPWHA strengthens the national response to the HIV epidemic by ensuring the 
meaningful involvement of all people living with HIV and plays an active role in 

realising a partnership approach in all aspects of our response.
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President’s report - For 
our communities

Preparing the NAPWHA Annual Report each year provides 
an important opportunity to reflect on the past year, and 
in reflection, 2022 has been a year in which NAPWHA has 
delivered on many important pieces of work and turned 

the dial forward to advance the interests of people living 
with HIV in Australia and build on the strength of our own 
Association.

Climate crisis action

2022 will go down as a year book-ended by floods, first 
in my area in Northern New South Wales in February and 
in October affecting our friends in Melbourne, broader 
Victoria, Tasmania, and Western New South Wales. These 
brought home the importance of us all doing our bit to 
combat climate change and whilst the contributions we are 
each able to make are small, they add up. Early in the year, 

NAPWHA switched our banking arrangments from a bank 
which supports the fossil fuel industry and makes polluting 
investments to a bank with ethical and sustainable lending 
practices. We are committed to further acting against 
climate change as we continue the important core work for 
our communities.

Back in-person

While every piece of work delivered in 2022 was important, 
perhaps the most significant has been the Community 
Accord on Quality of Life for People with HIV. The Accord 
has been successful in reframing our concept of what 
quality of life for people with HIV means and it was a 
significant contributor to our advocacy this year to embed a 
new 95% target in Australia’s national HIV response. Thanks 
to advocacy over time and particularly in this final stage 
of the Community Accord we and others will be working 
toward a target of 95% of people with HIV experiencing 
good quality of life.. 
 

The Accord was launched by NAPWHA at our July Member’s 
Forum which was a hugely significant and successful event 
in the year. Our first face-to-face gathering since before the 
COVID-19 pandemic saw NAPWHA members from across 
the country come together in Sydney. The good work of 
the event aside, the opportunity to be with old friends and 
comrades was welcomed by all. 
 
At the event, NAPWHA delivered the final report of the 
Health Literacy Framework project which was a multi-year 
project and, amongst other things, oversaw the expansion of 
our national networks representative model. 
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We also delivered on a new draft Strategic Plan for NAPWHA 
to run from 2022 to 2030, as well as an overview of our Fit 
for the Future Project which is a governance review that will 
be a big part of 2023. 

 
It didn’t seem long after the mid-year Member’s Forum that 
we were sending people off to Canada for the AIDS 2022 
conference, then on their return, to the ASHM Conference 
on the Sunshine Coast.

Innovative developments

Operationally in that time we’ve also delivered on a four-
day work week for the Association. The new arrangement 
provides NAPWHA with staffing flexibility and enables us 
to engage the range of skills and experience we will need to 
deliver on our next Strategic Plan. 
 
We have also engaged a new Deputy Executive Director, 
Brent Clifton. This senior role is a welcome addition to the 
NAPWHA structure. 
 
We’ve also worked to deliver on some major new projects. 
In particular we’ve sought to steer the Medicare Ineligibility 
program through the implementation phase involving the 
States; we've taken on a massive new HIV home testing 

project; and also managed the second year nominations in 
our Community Champions Program. 
 
We’ve coordinated the HIV community response on the 
national BBV and STI strategies, and continued our good 
work with AFAO to ensure the new government sticks to its 
election commitment to restore HIV sector funding. 
 
Now nearing the end of the year, we’re working up to 
our Annual General Meeting in November at which we’ll 
seek approval of our new Strategic Plan by NAPWHA’s 
members. We’re also looking forward to participating in the 
‘Beyond Undetectable’ conference which will bring together 
community, clinicians, and the pharmaceutical industry.

A huge thanks

My sincere thanks go to the NAPWHA Board who have 
been united, supportive, and focused on delivering the best 
outcomes for NAPWHA governance throughout the year. 
It's my honour to call this group of dedicated individuals my 
friends and I look forward to more time joining with them to 
serve NAPWHA and people with HIV in Australia. 
 
Lastly, my sincere thanks go to Aaron Cogle and our 
wonderful staff for yet another year of hard work, 
dedication, and delivery for people with HIV and in 
advancing Australia's national HIV response. 
 
On reflection, 2022 is a year for which NAPWHA can be 
immensely proud. We've delivered on our core business of 
representing people with HIV and advocating in our interest 
and we look forward to another year achieving those ends in 
2023.

Scott Harlum 
President, 
National Association of People with HIV Australia



Executive Director’s 
report – Hard work gets 
results
This year we finally stepped out of the shadow of COVID-19 
and transitioned the organisation back to something 
approaching a new normal. It has been an extraordinary year 
in which, I am pleased to report, NAPWHA’s hard work has 
yielded exceptional results.

NAPWHA completed its move to a four-day week; which 
is already improving the work-life balance of the staff 
team. We embraced the advantages of working from home 
this year and expanded our recruitment efforts to take 
advantage of a country-wide pool of talent. This year 
NAPWHA welcomed Brent Clifton as the Deputy Director, 
Martin Bangs as the Administration Officer, Beau Newham 
as the Board and Executive Director Support Officer, and 
Emma Oxenburgh as the Communications Officer. We 
also welcomed back Brent Allen, Joshua Badge, Ronald 
Woods, and Liz Sutherland who provided their expertise 
and skill as contractors on specific pieces of work. We bid 
a fond farewell to Saysana Sirimanotham, Communications 
and Community Engagement Officer, Charlie Tredway, 
Social Media Officer, and Eloise Monteiro, Campaigns and 
Community Engagement Officer. We wish them all the best 
in their future endeavours.

The consultation phase of the 9th National HIV Strategy 
recently came to a close. Over the course of several 
frantic weeks as the year ended, NAPWHA managed to 
provide opportunities for input from all of our networks 
and members. These important processes will capitalise 
on what makes the Australian HIV response a globally 
recognised leader: the engagement of the HIV positive 
community. Thanks to the enthusiastic and comprehensive 
contributions of our stakeholders, the voice of people with 
HIV Australia will inform the targets, goals and principles of 
the new strategy.

This year the MPX outbreak has taken up significant 
organisational resources. Through BBVSS and the National 
MPX Taskforce, NAPWHA has been ensuring that the 
information needs of people with HIV have been addressed 
and that the voices of positive people are heard as we 
implement the Australian response.

We watched with concern as the legislative back-sliding 
towards a more punitive response to HIV continued. NSW 
first introduced Mandatory Disease testing laws, and then 
affirmative consent laws, which expose PLHIV to ever 
more criminalisation. These laws make HIV transmissions 
more likely, not less. NAPWHA continued to make policy 
interventions where possible in an attempt to prevent other 
jurisdictions going down this similarly unproductive path.

Progress this year towards an agreement between State/
Territory and Commonwealth governments to provide ARV 
medications to Medicare ineligible PLHIV in Australia has 
been slower than we would have liked. However, we have 
been meeting regularly with all stakeholders throughout 
the year to keep the project moving and we are hopeful that 
the new arrangements will be in place in some jurisdictions 
before the end of the year.

The Home HIV Testing project, after some initial delays, is 
underway. This partnership project between NAPWHA and 
QPP will provide free HIV home tests posted to anywhere 
in Australia for twelve months. We have up to 12,000 home 
HIV tests to distribute to up to 3,000 people. This is a 
game changing piece of work which we hope will play an 
important role in finding the estimated 3,000 people living 
with HIV who are undiagnosed so that we can end HIV 
transmissions in Australia by 2030.
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A significant amount of resourcing this year was devoted 
to preparing the Australian contingent to attend the AIDS 
2022 Conference in Montreal. NAPWHA helped coordinate 
attendees from across the Australian HIV response as well 
as sending delegates of our own as well. NAPWHA had 
posters accepted on HIV and criminalisation and on the 
Australian Community Accord on Quality of Life for PLHIV, 
we contributed to the U=U pre-conference, and the Positive 
Leadership Development Institute and our very own Steven 
Spencer and Sarah Feagan also raised awareness of the 
needs of Bi+ PLHIV.

The NAPWHA Board has stewarded, to its successful 
conclusion, a lengthy and complex process to develop a new 
NAPWHA Strategic Plan. It is a visionary and comprehensive 

document that charts a confident path to the future. The 
Board and membership can be justifiably proud of it.

Our online presence continued to build on the successes 
of the COVID-19 period. With webinars such as ‘Beyond 
Resilience’ and ‘Finding Joy’ which focused on quality of 
life for PLHIV, a HOLA webinar focusing on stigma, and a 
live-streamed National Forum, we ensured that PLHIV from 
across Australia could tune-in for important NAPWHA 
events.

I want to thank the President and Vice President for their 
unwavering support. I also want to thank the Board, the 
membership, and the staff for their incredibly hard work this 
year. It has definitely yielded results.

The NAPWHA staff team. Photography by John McRae.

https://www.johnmcrae.com/


Research and Representation

In the last reporting period NAPWHA’s research and 
representation activities have continued to expand in scope 
under the portfolio leadership of Dr John Rule, NAPWHA’s 
Senior Research Manager. 

NAPWHA is a collaborator and co-investigator with the 
Australian Research Centre on Sex Health and Society 
(ARCSHS) on the HIV Futures Study, a productive 
partnership of more than twenty years. We have also 
contributed in an advisory capacity to the Stigma Indicators 
Project, the RISE Study, and the Gay Periodic Survey.

We continue to work closely with all the Australian research 
centres: the Kirby Institute, ARCSHS, ACH2, and the Centre 
for Social Research in Health (CSRH). NAPWHA supported 

a CSRH funding grant application for a research project that 
will include a self-reporting mechanism for stigma. 

Director of the CSRH, Dr Carla Treloar, is supporting 
NAPWHA’s development of an anti-stigma campaign that is 
currently in the market research phase. The market research 
company, Ipsos, has been engaged to conduct research 
into two key populations: middle-aged Asian people, and 
young white men. All those involved in the research already 
held stigmatising views of and a lack of knowledge about 
the modern realities of living with HIV. Findings from the 
research will enable us to better craft and target appropriate 
messaging aimed to reduce stigma and improve the wider 
Australian community’s understanding of HIV and those 
who live with it.

NAPWHA has links with researchers at the University of 
Queensland, the Burnett Institute, the Doherty Institute, 
Monash University, Curtin University, Alfred Health, and 
St Vincent’s Hospital. We also continue to be involved 
with clinicians and the research community about what 
the ongoing COVID-19 crisis means for PLHIV, as well as 
emerging data around vaccines and boosters.

NAPWHA has taken a keen interest in the respective 
Phylogentic studies currently undertaken by the Kirby and 
the Burnett Institute. We aim to ensure that PLHIV reap the 
benefits of this powerful technology without fear of any 
negative consequences such as exposure to criminalisation.

The Health+Law research project is a partnership between 
NAPWHA, the University of Technology Sydney, ASHM, 
HALC, and Hepatitis Australia. It will ask PLHIV about their 
experiences with a view to identifying the legal drivers of 
health-seeking behaviour. This will help us to understand 
the legal issues faced by PLHIV so that we can advocate 
for legal reform to create an enabling legal environment in 
which we can end HIV transmissions rather than making 
them more likely.

A major initiative for the last reporting period was the 
formation of NAPWHA’s HIV Research Partnerships 
Advisory Group (RPAG). The RPAG includes HIV community 
leaders and eminent researchers who will guide NAPWHA’s 
work to build research capacity and engagement within our 
membership.
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Membership engagement

NAPWHA has maintained a rigorous schedule of meetings 
and national forums this year to allow the positive 
community to stay connected. These forums are key 
moments in the year when a nation-wide voice of PLHIV 
emerges. We did this virtually for our 2021 Annual General 

Meeting in November, and while Zoom meetings have 
helped us nurture that connection throughout these 
challenging COVID-19 years, we have been excited to be 
able to transition back to face-to-face engagement.

Presentations by Brent Clifton (left) and the Positive Asian Network Australia (right): Our 2022 Special General Meeting and 
Members Forum were held in person in Sydney, heralding in some long-awaited reunions while ensuring we do our best to 
keep our community and colleagues safe. The forum showcased the Health Literacy Framework project, the Finding Joy 
congress, and launched the Australian Community Accord on Quality of Life for People Living with HIV.

The event brought together our NAPWHA members, Networks, Board and Staff, and featured speakers.

In April 2022 we partnered with CSRH and Gilead Sciences 
(Gilead) to deliver an ‘HIV Hackathon’. People from the 
HIV sector and beyond came together to ‘hack’ solutions 
to the problem of HIV stigma. Two concepts that emerged 
will hopefully be developed for implementation in the near 
future.

The operational leaders of our member organisations came 
together multiple times this year to discuss emerging risks 
and current issues, such as the Monkeypox Virus (MPXV). 
The April 2022 meeting also discussed home HIV testing, 
PLHIV in research, the decriminalisation of sex work in 
Queensland, and a review of the Anti-Discrimination Act in 
Queensland..



Policy

NAPWHA, in partnership with our jurisdictional members, 
has prepare a range of policy responses to current issues 
relating to PLHIV nationally over the course of the year. 
Some of the work we have been involved with includes: 
immigration reform; decriminalisation of sex work in 
Queensland; Anti-Discrimination Act review in Queensland; 
affirmative consent laws in NSW, Victoria, and Western 
Australia; mandatory disease testing guidelines in NSW; 
the next National HIV Strategy; the national Religious 
Discrimination Bill; and the United Nations Political 
Declaration on HIV.  

Led by Adrian Ogier, NAPWHA’s Director of 
Communications and Campaigns, the NAPWHA-
coordinated Policy Officers Network met to discuss 
Medicare ineligibility and ARV access, booster vaccines for 
COVID-19, and organ donation for and by PLHIV.

Medicare ineligibility has been a key item of work for 
many years in Australia. In 2021, Health Minister Hunt 
announced a solution to antiretroviral (ARV) treatment 
access for PLHIV who are Medicare ineligible, which was 
budgeted for in May 2022. NAPWHA and AFAO then 
produced a briefing paper for the community sector and 
are currently working with state health departments on 
its implementation. NAPWHA is keen to work with the 
Commonwealth on communicating the transition process 
to those affected.

Health Literacy Framework

The Health Literacy Framework project (2019-2021) 
concluded its three-year initiative with a showcase 
at the NAPWHA members forum in June 2022 and a 
comprehensive report and evaluation. The project continues 
NAPWHA’s tradition of ground-breaking work for and 
with PLHIV, striving to ensure that all PLHIV have the 
best supports available to them in terms of appropriate, 

affordable, and accessible treatment and care. The project 
focused on engaging diverse cohorts of PLHIV who have 
not benefited equally from recent successes across the HIV 
care continuum and aimed to address the role of HIV health 
literacy in improving HIV-related health care and quality of 
life outcomes for all PLHIV in Australia.
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Download the Health Literacy Framework Project 
Outcomes report.

Project lead, Saysana Sirimanotham engaged a new model: 
Community Advocates—community leaders who became 
our research partners for the life of the project and co-
designed ways through which we could engage with 
HIV sub-populations from around Australia. A series of 
community consultations in the form of group workshops, 
semi-structured interviews, and documented conversations 
were conducted to draw out the health literacy needs of 
different communities. Community Advocates then helped 
NAPWHA put some of these changes into practice to help 
improve NAPWHA’s health promotion and communication  
with positive women, heterosexual men, and other PLHIV 
community groups.

This participatory action research approach supported 
capacity-building that included training and mentoring, 
allowing for Community Advocates to be actively involved 
in the evaluation of the project. A legacy of the project 
will be how NAPWHA engages with our members, and the 
establishment of three additional NAPWHA networks: the 
Positive Asian Network Australia (PANA), the Positive Latinx 
Australian Network (PLAN), and the Heterosexual Men’s 
Advocacy Network (HetMAN).

Following the initial pilot, a key outcome of the project has 
been the development of new NAPWHA networks. NAPWHA 
has for a long time auspiced PATSIN and the National Network 
for Women Living with HIV. To these, we have added PANA, 
HetMAN, and PLAN.

Health 
Literacy 
Framework

PROJECT 
OUTCOMES

20
19
-

20
22

HEALTH LITERACY FRAMEWORK 1 | Executive Summary

3

1 | Executive Summary

3

HEALTH LITERACY FRAMEWORK 1 | Executive Summary

2

Executive Summary 
of Health Literacy 
Framework project 
Outcomes

Robust systems established to 
communicate the project

NAPWHA website 

Positive Living Magazine 

– Voice of PLHIV

Women Living Well: Living with HIV

NAPWHA Learning website

Data security, confidentiality assurance of 
community member information

AT-A-GLANCE

ZERO 1400+

WEBSITES OPTIMISED, 
REDESIGNED OR NEWLY 
CREATED:

CLIENT RELATIONSHIP 
MANAGEMENT (CRM) SYSTEM 
INSTALLED

Unique individuals in CRM:

2019 2021

Robust 
governance 
established for 
the project

Partnering with 
and building 
capacity of 
Project Leaders 
and Community 
Advocates

Advisory 
Steering Group

Healthcare provider 
partners: ASHM and Cairns 

Sexual Health Centre

Organisational partners 
establish worksites in 

Darwin, Melbourne, Perth, 
Sydney, Brisbane and 

Canberra

Community advocacy 
networks directly 

consulted

Research partnership 
with HIV Futures at La 

Trobe University

External researchers 
consulted

External trainer 
consulted

PLHIV Project Leaders and 
Community Advocates 
appointed 

Skills-based workshops 
held in facilitation, train-
the-trainer, and research 
inductions

Remunerated employment 
agreements set

Recognition of HIV lived 
experience as a skillset

Opportunities for HIV sector 
skills development

Community Advocates 
present as a speaker or 
panellist at HIV symposia, HIV 
conferences, and HIV s100 
Prescriber training (14)

Co-designers of consultations 
with PLHIV community 
groups across Australia

2

5

5

3

10

10

10

https://napwha.org.au/health-literacy-framework/
https://napwha.org.au/health-literacy-framework/


Community mobilisation also led to targeted work in the later 
stages of the project with the Positive Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Network (PATSIN), as well as re-invigoration of 
the National Network of Women living with HIV.

Supporting conversations with women in community 
spaces was an initiative repeated throughout the project. 
Sarah Feagan facilitated an NTAHC-hosted women’s 
health workshop with other local Community Advocates. 
Participants in Darwin and surrounding areas in the NT (n=13) 
came together to discuss relationships and living well with 
HIV. An HIV s100 Prescriber also attended the event. 

Living Well was the theme chosen for the 2022 National 
Day of Women Living with HIV. The associated social media 
campaign directed folks to the Living Well: Women with 
HIV website. Having undergone a major makeover, this 
website offers wide ranging information about living with 
HIV, disclosing HIV status, having sex, taking treatment, 
caring for your body, having children, keeping well, and 
getting support.

Through the Health Literacy Framework project, the 
national women living with HIV (WLHIV) health website 
was re-designed, updated, and re-launched in 2021. The 
new-look and re-optimised website ‘Living Well: Women 
with HIV’ reflects some of the ways the world has changed 
for WLHIV over the last few years, including the release of 
the Breastfeeding for Women Living with HIV in Australia 
community resource in September 2021.

NAPWHA’s strategic plans and priorities must continue to 
align with national targets as well as with the interests of 
NAPWHA members. NAPWHA and the national response 
to HIV in Australia now has another tool for use into 
the future—the HIV Health Literacy Framework. Within 
the project there was much talk of the ‘health literacy 
ecosystem.’ NAPWHA’s role within that ecosystem has been 
enhanced and advanced through increased networking and 
relationship building across the HIV community.

Through the Health Literacy Framework project we have 
developed a greater understanding of the complexities of 
issues experienced by a diverse HIV community. We now 
know how to respond better to that diverse community.

Building on these successes, NAPWHA engaged with other 
key groups including PLHIV who inject drugs and those 
with experiences of incarceration. A significant focus for 
the organisation now is older PLHIV and how the Aged Care 
sector in Australia can better serve this growing population.
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Learning

NAPWHA’s commitment to sector development and health 
promotion intersects in our Learning portfolio, which covers 
a suite of projects including the navigation skills training 
for HIV peer support workers and peer navigators; the HIV 
101 resources for GPs about to make an HIV diagnosis and 
people newly diagnosed with HIV; and the webinar series 
which has informed NAPWHA’s work on quality of life for 
PLHIV in Australia. 

The HIV Peer Navigation training project is now 
recruiting participants. Participants may be working in 
HIV peer support or HIV peer navigation roles, or they 
may be interested in moving into this area of work in the 
future. The program emphasises peer learning, including 
discussion among trainees as well as with more experienced 
practitioners. People who complete the training will be 
invited to mentor future training participants, contributing 
to an ongoing process of informal learning. This work is 
funded by Gilead.

The Peer 
Navigation 
training 
includes six 
interactive 
webinars 
plus 
completion 
of four 
e-learning 
modules 
on the 
NAPWHA 
Learning 
platform.

 The HIV 101 project is now live on the NAPWHA 
Learning platform and consists of two vitally important 
resources; one for GPs who are about to make a new HIV 
diagnosis and another for people who have just received 
an HIV diagnosis. The video messages talk about what 
you might be feeling, what to expect, and where you can 

find support. NAPWHA has partnered with a Queensland 
pathology network who will pilot the project by delivering 
a link to the resources on pathology report forms that go 
back to doctors notifying them a blood sample has tested 
positive for HIV. Our hope is that this distribution strategy 
will improve our reach among doctors in ‘low- and no-
caseload’ clinics—who may have never made a diagnosis 
and may be unaware of how HIV has changed. It will supply 
GPs with the information they need about how to deliver an 
effective and compassionate HIV diagnosis, exactly when 
they need it.

HIV 101 is an online platform designed for both GPs and 
newly diagnosed PLHIV.

https://learning.napwha.org.au/
https://learning.napwha.org.au/
https://learning.napwha.org.au/


Four ‘virtual hugs’ video messages were created by community members thriving with HIV for people who have just received 
a new diagnosis. 

Learning events: the Learning project includes 
responsibility for convening a vibrant and exciting series 
of webinars and in-person learning events. In June 2022, 
this included NAPWHA’s flagship event, Finding Joy, held 
in a hybrid format (in-person and online) as part of the 
Members Forum. Over three hours, panellists explored what 
enables moments of joy and happiness that give energy for 
life. They also focused on techniques for improving quality 
of life. Finding Joy followed on from November 2021’s 
hugely successful Beyond Resilience virtual congress. The 
Beyond Resilience Congress was Australia’s first-ever virtual 
congress bringing together the body positive from across 
Australia in a three-hour Zoom webinar. Topics included 
how we support emerging leaders and build the capacity of 
the positive community to advocate for improved quality of 
life. Both events were made possible by funding from ViiV 
Healthcare Australia (ViiV).

Hear from Anth McCarthy, who established the 
Heterosexual Men’s Advocacy Network (HetMAN). Anth 
spoke as part of a community panel for the Beyond 
Resilience Congress in November 2021, chaired by 
Christabel Millar. Anth formed part of a panel session 
called ‘Strengthening the positive voice: Whose voices are 
missing or unheard?’

The Accord: Over the past 18 months, Learning Project 
Officer Daniel Reeders has led an in-depth project 
developing an Australian Community Accord on Quality 
of Life for People with HIV in partnership with consultant 
Brent Allan and with generous ongoing support from ViiV. 
The Accord is both a commitment and a call to action to 
do more to achieve good quality of life for PLHIV by 2030. 
It sets out a framework of eight drivers of differences in 
quality of life: four positive (meaning, belonging, care, and 
support) and four negative (stigma, isolation, distress, and 
material insecurity). By promoting the positive drivers 
and addressing the negative drivers we can improve 
quality of life. Posters on the Accord were presented at 
the International AIDS Conference 2022 in Montréal and 
the Joint HIV and Sexual Health Conferences 2022 on the 
Sunshine Coast.

Community Advocates, including two from PANA, Jimmy 
Yu-Hsiang Chen and Emil Cañita, participate in a discussion 
panel asking: ‘Are we on-track to achieve Quality of Life for 
all people with HIV by 2030?’ This symposium was a special 
event at the Virtual Australasian HIV&AIDS Conference 
2021 featuring healthcare providers and community 
members.



15Annual Report  |  2021 - 2022

Web-based community engagement events featured Community 
Advocates including Sarah Feagan, who formed part of a World AIDS Day 
2021 interactive livestream event that aimed to raise awareness of the 
importance of improved quality of life and reduced stigma for PLHIV.

 
 

 

Treatment Outreach Network

The Treatment Outreach Network (TON) is a formal 
collaboration of HIV community sector professionals 
working together to optimise the overall wellbeing of 
PLHIV by providing a high standard of information and 
care on issues of health and treatments for HIV. TON’s 
role is to provide consistent, up-to-date information to 
state-based HIV community organisations and to enhance 
the HIV treatment knowledge of HIV community sector 
professionals. NAPWHA project staff are responsible for 
convening the network and utilise a range of partnerships to 
ensure the aims of the network are met.

In the past twelve months, TON held two online meetings 
which engaged members with the following HIV and 
treatments related topics:

• Treatments update from the European AIDS Clinical 
meeting

• NAPWHA Research and Treatment Initiative

• ARVs and weight gain (presented by Professor Jennifer 
Hoy – Director HIV Medicine, Department of Infectious 
Diseases, The Alfred).

• Injectable Treatments Availability in Australia

• NAPWHA Research and Treatment Initiative update

• Cognitive Health initiative – An international 
collaboration – Presentation and Q&A (presented by 
Associate Professor Lucette A. Cysique, UNSW and St. 
Vincent’s Hospital).

TON members also participated in community-based 
research on HIV Cure, which was presented at the 
Australasian HIV and Sexual Health conference on the 
Sunshine Coast in August 2022.

Social Media and Communications

NAPWHA’s Social Media Project Officer, Charlie Tredway, continued to engage 
community members with a variety of posts and initiatives over the last year. Between 
likes and follows on Facebook and Instagram, NAPWHA static posts and videos this year 
have a combined reach of tens of thousands, with hundreds of engagements. 
 
We ran a hugely successful Community Champion series through a collaborative 
partnership with Gilead and delivered a series of five videos celebrating community 
champions who have made a profound difference to the HIV community and sector.



We utilise social media to 
shout-out our long-form 
articles published in our 
Positive Living magazine. 
This year we posted two 
Positive Living articles to 
highlight 40 years of HIV in 
Australia, covering the time 
periods of the 1980s-1990s 
and 2000-2021. Community 
members generously shared 
their experiences of diagnosis 
and living with HIV over the 
decades, reflecting on their 
own personal journeys.

Some key communications that have been delivered 
via social media include ‘The Time to Vaccinate Is Now’ 
campaign, urging PLHIV to get vaccinated for COVID-19; the 
National Day of Women Living with HIV; Bi+ Visibility Day; 
ASHM Conference Reportage; Update to the Breastfeeding 
Guidance; and the Positive Asian Network Australia launch 
and call-out.

Social media post raising awareness for the National Day of 
Women Living with HIV, held annually on March 9th.

NAPWHA’s 2021 World AIDS Day ‘40 Years of HIV: Where 
to Next?’ campaign showcased 40 community leaders 
sharing their hopes, aspirations, and calls-to-action as we 
enter a new decade of the HIV response. NAPWHA was 
also involved in three World AIDS Day events. The Canberra 
World AIDS Day event proceeded virtually and, importantly, 
saw the announcement of activity funding for the peaks and 
confirmation of ARV access for Medicare ineligible PLHIV. 
We had a face-to-face World AIDS Day event in partnership 
with Positive Life NSW and Gilead where HIV Community 
Champions were announced. We were also part of a webinar 
on ‘rediscovering the importance of QoL for PLHIV’ hosted 
by Jenny Brockie and supported by ViiV.

In the lead-up to World AIDS Day on 1 December 2021, 
NAPWHA posted messages from our community of PLHIV 
and the people who have dedicated their lives to research, 
advocacy, and clinical care alongside us.
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‘I/We Chose to Get Tested’ is a social media campaign 
created by NAPWHA in 2022 which aims to raise awareness 
of HIV among the broader community, particularly for 
heterosexual men and women.

Social media tiles used to communicate the testing 
campaign initiative. The campaign was co-designed by 
PLHIV within our communities and forms part of an 
initiative from the Health Literacy Framework project.

Office arrangements

NAPWHA’s Administration Officer for more than ten years, 
Gladys Jimenez, decided to move on in March 2022. During 
the latter part of 2021 and early 2022, with the COVID-19 
restrictions becoming more lenient and travel rules within 
Australia relaxing, Gladys was able to manage more face-to-
face meetings in Sydney with people from all over Australia 
including Board and project events. Gladys has always 
successfully run and maintained the NAPWHA office in 
Newtown with remarkable and professional zest. Her work 
with NAPWHA over the years is incredibly appreciated and 
she will be extremely missed.

Martin Bangs commenced as the Administration Officer 
with NAPWHA in April 2022. Martin, who has a solid history 
working in various not-for-profit organisations including 
within the HIV sector, has picked up the role proficiently. 
He coordinated the NAPWHA Special General Meeting 
in Sydney in 2022, organising travel, accommodation, 
and meeting protocols with our members from all over 
Australia—the first time NAPWHA has organised such an in-
person meeting for two years due to COVID-19 restrictions.

Aaron Cogle 
Executive Director,  
National Association of People with HIV Australia



Networks

National Network of Women Living with HIV

Due to the impact of COVID-19 lockdowns, the National 
Network of Women Living with HIV (the Women’s Network) 
activities for the reporting period for 2021-22 have been 
less than previous years. The Network’s signature event—
the National Day of Women Living with HIV—is held every 
year on 9 March across Australia. This National Day is 
about raising the profile of women living with HIV (WLHIV) 
in Australia, celebrating our resilience, and profiling the 
Women’s Network

Each state and territory 
decide how they will 
acknowledge the National 
Day and many hold a 
special morning tea 
bringing WLHIV together to 
celebrate and support each 
other.

This year we celebrated our 7th National Day with the 
theme “Living Well”. To profile our unique perspective, we 
produced a video message to encourage women to complete 
a survey on what living well means to them. More than 20 

women responded to the questions, with a selection of 
these responses being designed as social media tiles and 
shared nationally. This social media campaign helped raise 
public awareness of the issues faced by WLHIV and what 
sustains us to live well.

A response from one of the women who completed the 
NDWLHIV survey was: “Living well means I have a choice”. 
To read more about the National Day visit NAPWHA’s 
website here. You can also read the survey responses here.

Under NAPWHA’s Health Literacy Framework, women 
were identified as a key population needing support. 
The Women’s Network was involved in several projects, 
including the training of four WLHIV to be peers within 
their local area. This project was highly successful and 
reinforces the importance of peer support, especially for 
those newly diagnosed.

Due to our ongoing national advocacy and successful 
collaboration with NAPWHA, ASHM, and Positive Woman 
Victoria, two breastfeeding resources were developed; one 
for community and one for clinicians/healthcare providers.

https://napwha.org.au/national-day-of-women-living-with-hiv-2022/
https://positivewomen.org.au/living-well-theme-for-2022-national-day-of-women-living-with-hiv-2/


19Annual Report  |  2021 - 2022

One of the key recommendations to come out of community consultations with WLHIV was the need for updated guidance 
on breastfeeding. After a comprehensive consultation process, NAPWHA and Positive Women Victoria developed the new 
community resource entitled Breastfeeding for Women Living with HIV in Australia. NAPWHA’s community resource was 
released alongside new guidance for healthcare providers produced by the Australasian Society for HIV, Viral Hepatitis and 
Sexual Health Medicine (ASHM). The Optimal Scenario and Context of Care: Guidance for Healthcare Providers Regarding Infant 
Feeding Options for People Living with HIV features some highlighted sections from the community resource.

The Women’s Network is currently finalising its membership 
Terms of Reference, which should see the Women’s 
Network open to all WLHIV in Australia rather than those 
focused on HIV advocacy and policy development. We are 
also currently updating our Work Plan, which sits under 
NAPWHA’s Strategic Plan 2022-30. While the Work Plan is 
being developed through a series of Zoom meetings, we aim 
to have a face-to-face planning day to finalise content and 
set up several small working groups to take action on various 
projects. A key element of our Work Plan will be continued 
advocacy for further research focused specifically on 
WLHIV so we can accurately answer women’s questions on 
Treatment as Prevention, U=U, rapid testing, and injectable 
treatments, as well as many concerns around HIV and 
ageing.

The Women’s Network offers thanks to all the women 
who have given their time and dedication to the Women’s 
Network and our projects during 2021-22. Without 
your voice we cannot drive a national agenda. All your 
contributions are highly valued; from attending a zoom 
meeting, to responding to a survey, to educating your family 
or community. We would like to extend special thanks and 
acknowledgement to Eloise Monteiro for your innovative 
input, support, and ideas on expanding our Women’s 
Network. We wish you well and look forward to remaining 
connected within the National Network into the future.

Every time a positive woman speaks out, we are increasing 
the community’s collective awareness and challenging 
HIV-related stigma and discrimination. This was captured 
so powerfully in a quote from a social media tile from our 
Living Well campaign: ‘I meet so many amazing positive 
women who deny themselves the right to healing and happy 
intimate relationships.’

A huge thank you to all the women who keep the Women’s 
Network going with your passion and commitment. As the 
NAPWHA National Network of WLHIV, we advocate for 
equal human rights for all WLHIV.

Heather Ellis, Jane Costello, Sarah Feagan, and Kath 
Leane 
National Network of Women Living with HIV 
Members

https://napwha.org.au/resource/breastfeeding/
https://ashm.org.au/resources/the-optimal-scenario-context-of-care-guidance-for-healthcare-providers-regarding-infant-feeding-options-for-people-living-with-hiv/
https://ashm.org.au/resources/the-optimal-scenario-context-of-care-guidance-for-healthcare-providers-regarding-infant-feeding-options-for-people-living-with-hiv/


Positive Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
Network

The past twelve months have been very challenging 
with COVID-19 restrictions impacting our Aboriginal 
communities around the country. We have been connecting 
over Zoom, social media, and over the phone.

It has been just over 
a year since we lost 
a leader and staunch 
advocate for our mob, 
Arone Raymond Meeks. 
The Anwernekenhe 
National HIV Alliance 
(ANA) and Positive 
Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Network 
(PATSIN) board and 
members would like to 

once again acknowledge the great work of Arone Raymond 
Meeks over the years and say what a wonderful advocate, 
friend, and colleague he has been to the ANA and PATSIN. 
Arone was a proud Aboriginal Man from Laura who passed 
away on 5 May 2021.

Arone Raymond Meeks’ artistic works are on display in 
galleries around the world, including the National Gallery of 
Australia here at home.

This year, PATSIN has been involved in a number of projects, 
partnerships, and presentations. PATSIN members have 
been involved with NAPWHA in developing their Reflect 
Reconciliation Action Plan and were also involved in the 
NAPWHA Members Forum earlier this year.

PATSIN was involved as an author alongside Catherine 
O’Connor, Justin Salerno, James Ward, Dr Darren Russell, 
Rebecca Guy, and others on a paper titled Pre-exposure 
Prophylaxis and Renal Impairment in Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Australians, that was presented at the ASHM 
Conference.

We had a representative on the ViiV Virtual Community 
Advisory Board follow-up meeting, and we are hoping to 
receive further support to run a Health and Wellbeing 
Retreat as a follow-on from the one we had in Far North 
Queensland with Queensland Positive People (QPP) earlier 
this year. We were also invited to participate on the steering 
committee for NAPWHA and Gilead’s inaugural ‘Beyond 
Undetectable - Improving Outcomes for PLHIV’.

PATSIN had a voice on the panel for the Beyond Resilience 
congress, where I spoke about the importance of us having a 
place at the table.

PozQol have created an artwork that depicts ‘The Last 
Supper’ with an accompanying quote from Michelle Tobin 
that was on display at the Montréal International AIDS 
Conference in July-August 2022.

Over the last five years, the rate of HIV diagnosis has been 
between 1.3 and 1.9 times higher among Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people than Australian born non-
Indigenous people. We feel we have been left behind in 
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eliminating HIV for all. The testing and uptake of treatment 
messaging that has worked for the non-Indigenous has not 
reached our communities due to not enough funding and 
the messages not being culturally appropriate. For this to 
change there needs to be more engagement with the ANA 
and PATSIN to visit communities to provide support and 
education of HIV and other STIs. We need to work together 
to eliminate HIV for everybody and this can only happen 
if AIDS Councils and the HIV sector enable pathways into 
their services for our positive community to be a part of the 
conversation.

We want to support more of our Mob to become volunteers 
within the HIV sector, encourage more of our Mob to 
nominate for Board positions, and support more of our 
Mob’s diverse voices to be heard. Our communities need 
to be aware of the messages around U=U and to get tested 
for HIV early so we too can have a better quality of life. We 
know this type of messaging has successfully worked for 
the non-Indigenous community. There is a real urgency for 
Aboriginal people living with HIV to be empowered to take 

our place at the table alongside our non-Indigenous brothers 
and sisters so we can learn from one another, share in the 
knowledge, and walk the same path in the elimination of 
HIV for everybody.

We have been working with NAPWHA’s member 
organisation in NSW, Positive Life NSW, on a needs 
assessment which is in the final stages of completion. 
PATSIN is also currently working to formalise our peer 
support project via a national phone-back service and 
developing the HIV 101 training module for Aboriginal 
health workers.

If you have Aboriginal positive clients coming through your 
service, please refer them to PATSIN and suggest they join 
our membership. If they are based in NSW, please refer them 
to the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Program 
at Positive Life NSW.

Michelle Tobin 
PATSIN Convenor 

Positive Asian Network Australia

In mid-2021, Jimmy Yu-Hsiang Chen started working at 
NAPWHA as a Community Networks Officer. Jimmy worked 
on NAPWHA’s Health Literacy Framework project for Asian-
born people living with HIV. The principle of meaningful 
involvement for this community required reaching out 
and consulting with community members to describe and 
understand their needs, what had heretofore been missing, 
and what could benefit the community in a meaningful way. 
Jimmy and NAPWHA’s former Campaigns and Community 
Engagement Project Officer, Eloise Monteiro, set up a 
reference group consisting of Justin Xiao, Emil Cañita, Satrio 
Nindyo Istiko, Dai Aoki, and two NAPWHA representatives.

After consultation with the reference group, the first step 
was to create ‘Community Conversations’. and engage Asian 
men living with HIV who were born overseas to understand 
how NAPWHA can better support and represent this 
community in future projects.

Community Conversations focused on the community’s 
experiences accessing HIV treatment, health information, 
and support services.

The key findings from these Community Conversations 
were issues related to policy, stigma (healthcare settings 
in suburban areas, family, dating, etc.), as well as the need 
for research specific to this population, and role models. 
As a result, NAPWHA formed the Positive Asian Network 
Australia (PANA).

https://napwha.org.au/about-us/patsin/
https://www.positivelife.org.au/services/aboriginal-and-torres-strait-islander-health-program/
https://www.positivelife.org.au/services/aboriginal-and-torres-strait-islander-health-program/


PANA is run by the community, for the community. It 
aims to connect community members with each other, to 
continue community-led conversations about challenges 
faced by positive Asian people, to provide fast access to 
relevant HIV information, and to make recommendations to 
HIV organisations to advocate for improved support. 

Membership is open to all 
Asian PLHIV in Australia. 
We aim to be inclusive 
also of Australian-born 
Asian people and people 
of all genders, including 
cis-, trans-, and gender-
diverse people. A closed 
group is moderated on 
Facebook to keep peer 
and social connection 
continuing online.

PANA continues to engage with Asian PLHIV through 
regular meetings to discuss community needs and improve 
social engagement within the group. We also held a social 
engagement webinar on the impact of our mental health 
during COVID-19.

PANA has worked with Dr Jennifer Power (Chief Investigator) 
and Dr Thomas Norman (Co-Investigator) from the 
Australian Research Centre in Sex, Health, and Society 
(ARCSHS) and NAPWHA staff members Dr John Rule, Eloise 
Monteiro, and Jimmy Yu-Hsiang Chen (Co-Investigators) on 
a qualitative research project: Quality of life among Asian 
born gay and bisexual men living with HIV in Australia. The 
involvement of peers made the approach more personal, 
which created a safe space for participants and ensured 
privacy and allowed them to be more confident during one-
on-one interviews with the Community Advocate.

In 2022, PANA released a poster to promote the Network 
in healthcare settings, HIV, and multicultural organisations, 
as these settings offer more exposure and opportunities to 
engage with Asian PLHIV. This allowed PANA to be known 
by community members who hadn’t connected with PANA 
yet and provided an additional referral pathway for clinicians 
and health professionals for their clients/patients who are 
looking for social connections.

Additionally, during the 2022 ASHM Conference, PANA 
had a poster exhibited which created more opportunities to 
discuss how to support Asian PLHIV on a national level in 
the HIV sector.

2022 ASHM Conference on-demand poster session.

Jimmy Yu-Hsiang Chen was invited as a guest speaker to 
share PLHIV’s perspective on Migration and Mobility, in 
which Jimmy was able to share his lived experience. This 
session highlighted the much-needed development and 
advocacy work required on a national level for migration 
policy and future projects.

2022 ASHM Conference Migration and Mobility guest 
speaker: Jimmy Yu-Hsiang Chen.

Jimmy Yu-Hsiang Chen 
PANA Member
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Heterosexual Men’s Advocacy Network

It’s wonderful to be here, reporting on our first year as the 
Heterosexual Men’s Advocacy Network (HetMAN). We are 
proud to find ourselves in the family of Networks that liaise 
closely with NAPWHA.

HetMAN emerged because of 
community discussions. We 
aim to directly address the 
lack of positive heterosexual 
men representation in health 
promotion initiatives. The 

founding members have a call-to-action for other positive 
heterosexual men in Australia to get in touch.

HetMAN is a group of heterosexual/straight-identifying men 
living with HIV, coming together to represent other men like 
us. Our involvement in NAPWHA’s Health Literacy Framework 
project helped us better understand our own needs and gave 
us insights into the barriers that have prevented us from 
more actively voicing them in the past. Consulting directly 
with heterosexual men placed the importance of genuine 
representation right in front of us, and in late 2021 we held our 
first meeting and formed HetMAN.

We did so in recognition that positive, straight, white, 
Australian-born men can face intense isolation and place 
themselves outside of supportive positive communities. The 
reasons for them doing so are multifaceted and nuanced. 
We understand that Indigenous men and men of colour 
face profound barriers to meaningful involvement also. We 
determined that we should strive to advance the wellbeing 
of ALL men living with HIV in Australia who identify as 
heterosexual or straight. We seek to support the voices of 
these men and create safe opportunities for them to connect.

HetMAN founders Nath and Anth.

In November 2021, HIV peers explained findings from a recent 
paper on Quantifying unmet treatment needs among people 
living with HIV in Australia and other countries published 
in Population Medicine Oct 2021, Vol 3. Health promotion 
content was created through TikTok and memes were posted 
on social media summarising the research.

In December 2021, we were delighted to be joined by 
Tony, a Black South African man living with HIV. With his 
enthusiasm and natural leadership and networking abilities, 
we are exploring ways to build links with positive African-
born heterosexual men.

In March 2022, NAPWHA generously supported us to get 
together in person for a meeting and dinner in Sydney. 
While together, we were able to professionally produce a 
video introducing ourselves and explaining our intentions. 
Since then, we have developed a webpage, had a logo 
designed, and created an online social media presence.

https://napwha.org.au/about-us/hetman/
http://www.populationmedicine.eu/Quantifying-unmet-treatment-needs-among-people-living-with-HIV-in-Australia-and-other,143160,0,2.html
http://www.populationmedicine.eu/Quantifying-unmet-treatment-needs-among-people-living-with-HIV-in-Australia-and-other,143160,0,2.html
https://napwha.org.au/peers-explain-research-on-tiktok/


Image stills from HetMAN’s promotional video.

Our first year saw us take up three valuable opportunities to 
represent our cohort:

• November 2021, we represented heterosexual men at 
the Beyond Resilience Congress

• December 2021, we contributed to the development of 
ASHM’s U=U media guidelines

• June 2022, we presented at NAPWHA’s Health Literacy 
Framework showcase.

Less glamorously, we have developed and ratified a Terms 
of Reference to guide the way our core steering team meet 
and make decisions. We have identified several possible 
exciting initiatives to pursue. We are keen to work with 
state and territory peer organisations and provide advice or 
assistance to anyone who is seeking to include heterosexual 
men in HIV policy and service provision. We are grass roots, 
volunteer based, and severely limited in resources and time - 
but we are committed.

Please watch out for HetMAN and support us by bringing us 
to the attention of the HIV workforce. And please - continue 
to keep an eye out for men living with HIV who identify 
as heterosexual or straight. Especially if they appear to be 
struggling in isolation.

Nathan and Anth 
HetMAN Members

Members of HetMAN, including Tony and Nathan, present 
their work, vision, and goals at the NAPWHA Members Forum.
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Positive Latinx Australia Network

The Positive Latinx Australia Network (PLAN) was born in 
November 2021 as part of the formation of NAPWHA’s Health 
Literacy Framework project for multicultural and diverse 
communities, allowing the voices HIV-positive Latinx people to 
be heard at a national level, further enabling conversation and 
representation within the HIV response.

An invitation 
to ‘Community 
Conversations’ 
was posted 
via NAPWHA 
social media 
channels as 
well as through 
NAPWHA’s 
network of state 
and territory 
based PLHIV 
community 
organisations. 
The invitation 
graphic was 
also posted 
in Spanish, 
Portuguese, 
and English via 

Cristian Cortes’ social media networks including the Latin 
American and Hispanic Rainbow Community (LAHRC) 
and international student Facebook groups.

The Latinx American cultural presence in Australia 
is growing like never before. The proportion of Latinx 
American students in Australia has been steadily growing in 
the last seven years. The number of student visas issued to 
Latinx American citizens rose 34% between 2006 and 2013. 
Although students from Asia still comprise the vast majority 
of student visas (19.9% from China alone), the proportion of 
Latinx Americans has been growing every year. In response, 
the network is aimed specifically to communities living with 
HIV from Spanish and Portuguese speaking backgrounds 
living in Australia.

PLAN gives people the opportunity to not only seek support 
but to engage and explore some of the factors tangential to 

HIV health such as access to treatment, visa and migration 
issues, disclosure, sexual risk-taking, ways of staying safe, 
stigma, and resilience.

The ‘Community Conversations’ activities aimed to investigate 
key issues and needs, as well as potential initiatives to address 
the health issues identified by community.

https://lahrc.org.au/
https://lahrc.org.au/


Throughout 2022, PLAN has had two meetings where our 
mission and objectives were defined, as well as our logo and 
name. PLAN’s committee is currently formed by members 
from Victoria, New South Wales, Western Australia, and 
Queensland.

PLAN aims to 
connect community 
members with 
each other, continue 
community-led 
conversations 
about challenges 

faced by positive Latinx people, provide fast access to 
relevant HIV information, and make recommendations to 
HIV organisations to advocate for improved support. There 
was scope for potentially leveraging from two existing 
Latinx networks of which Cristian Cortes and Oscar 
Sanchez were co-organisers – respectively, LAHRC (Latin 
American and Hispanic Rainbow Community, a Melbourne-
based social and support network) and SAILAHC (Sydney 
ARCO IRIS Latin American & Hispanic Community, a social 
and support network for Latin American and Hispanic 
LGBTIQ Community members and their family and friends 
in Sydney).

The committee met in May 2022, when members 
travelled to Sydney to have our first in-person meeting 
at the NAPWHA offices. We also had a video shoot and 
photography session to create the first promotional content.

PLAN members meeting 
for the first time in-person, 
as well as holding a video 
shoot for promotional 
purposes.

PLAN members participated in the NAPWHA SGM/
Members Meeting in Sydney in June and shared their 
experiences in opening spaces for participation from the 
Latinx community. The committee is currently working on 
the Terms of Reference and communications plans.

PLAN has received wonderful feedback already, as there has 
been a great need to have a repository of information and 
resources that can be shared among the Latinx community 
as well as promoting translation of existing resources.

Cristian Cortes Garzon 
PLAN Member
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State of the Positive 
Nation

FULL MEMBERS

Living Positive Victoria

From an operational perspective, this financial year was just 
as challenging as the previous year. Although we were able to 
draw from the lived experiences of navigating our pathway 
through an extended lockdown, the impacts of a second 
lockdown from July to October 2021, with Melbourne now 
experiencing the longest combined lockdown period of 
any city in the world, had significant impacts on wellbeing, 
mental health, and continuity of care across the range of 
communities with which we engage.

Re-engaging in-person
Although the challenges were many and varied, the 
adaptation of our virtual service delivery became more 
consistent, targeted, and refined. We were very proud of 
the Taking Charge program with a diverse range of topics 
and the implementation of smaller group engagement 
opportunities post-lockdown to provide confidence for 
PLHIV over 50 years of age to re-engage with in-person 
supports. Some of the novel innovations highlighted in 
Living Positive Victoria’s (LPV’s) annual report like the 
Positive Relationships and Positive Reflections workshops 
showcase the learnings during this period and will be aligned 
to the traditional suite of service delivery options to engage 
our community moving forward.

Community member Susan Paxton speaking at the launch 
of the Well Beyond 50 website.

It was energising for both staff and community to re-engage 
in key face to face programs for women and heterosexuals 
and the gen next group as well as seeing the implementation 
of the Asian MSM peer support group.



The strength of our key showcase events remained 
unhindered with our virtual offerings providing quality 
engagement opportunities and reach across our state and 
beyond.

Community events
With the World AIDS Day focus on 40 years since the first 
diagnosis of HIV, we chose to acknowledge the past but 
focus on where to next, with a dynamic range of speakers 
and engagements across the day. I was delighted with the 
broad media coverage of this important milestone with 
our former President Christabel Millar engaged in an ABC 
special and myself engaged with SBS to talk about emerging 
communities and the need for in-language information as 
the face of HIV changes across our state and nation.

2021 World AIDS Day live-stream panellists Michael West, 
Richard Keane, Kirsty Machon, Brent Allan, and Simon 
Ruth.

Our Candlelight memorial 
event focused a theme 
on HIV and the arts and 
showcased some wonderful 
speakers from the Positive 
Speakers Bureau and people 
living with HIV talking 
about their art and its 
impact.

Richard Keane speaking 
at the filming of the 
2022 International AIDS 
Candlelight Memorial.

Board and staff
We welcomed our new President Craig Brennan to the 
role. Craig has significant governance experience, and our 
Board underwent training provided by Australian Institute 
of Company Directors over two weekends in June 2022. 
Craig has our members at the heart of his priorities and is 
currently leading the development of our new Strategic Plan.

Living Positive Victoria’s new President, Craig Brennan.

This year we said farewell to Taylor Mitchell in the role of 
Community Engagement Officer and welcomed Edwina 
Landale to the role, and after what seemed like a long wait, 
welcomed Jen Johnson to the role of Health Promotion 
Manager.

Richard Keane 
Living Positive Victoria Chief Executive Officer
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Positive Life New South Wales

Throughout 2021-2022, Positive Life NSW (Positive Life) 
continued to provide support and advocacy to and on 
behalf of all people living with HIV (PLHIV), including policy 
advice; research; housing, treatments, systems navigation, 
vocational support, and other peer navigation and support 
services; social inclusion; and health promotion. Our digital 
communications strategy remains a primary tool to lift 
awareness on a range of emerging issues and priorities of 
importance to all PLHIV.

Activities in these areas included:

• 777 clients engaged with 4,717 occasions of service in 
this financial year.

• 356 submissions to the Commonwealth and State 
Government and presentations facilitating outcomes 
to further the health and community services needs 
of PLHIV in NSW, including: feedback on research 
proposals, protocols, and guidelines; discussion, options, 
and position papers in a range of NSW Health and 
sector advisory groups and committees; presentations 
at various symposia, workshops, and conferences; 
briefings to members of the NSW HIV response 
partnership including participation with the NSW HIV 
Prevention Revolution Project Steering Committee 
and Pillar Working Groups and the NSW HIV Strategy 
Implementation Committee and Expert Data Report 
Committee.

• From January to March 2022, we conducted a seven-
week consultation process called “Checking in with 
you 2022” using an online and hard copy survey and 
face-to-face forum. This was in the light of an extended 
time of lockdown and social isolation during the 
COVID-19 pandemic in NSW which extended from June 
to approximately November 2021.

• Six partnership events with HIV sector stakeholders.

• Continued progression and chairing of the HIV Complex 
Care Working Group, Anal Cancer Advocacy Group, and 
HPV Working Group representing the interests of all 
PLHIV across NSW.

Programs and supports
Some of our most significant achievements include:

• Aboriginal Health Program - we continued to progress 
the innovative Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
PLHIV Health co-designed needs assessment of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander community of 
NSW, including those living with HIV and those at risk 
of acquiring HIV.

• Peer Navigation Program - in partnership with NSW 
Health and Local Health Districts this program includes 
a diverse range of peers with lived experience who 
support, inform, build capacity, and connect PLHIV to 
better navigate health and social services systems.

• Housing Support Program - which has seen increased 
activity with over 163 new clients throughout the 
year and has supported PLHIV across NSW to access, 
achieve, and maintain stable accommodation during the 
extended periods of COVID-19 lockdown. Positive Life is 
the only HIV community organisation supporting PLHIV 
to navigate the range of referral pathways including 
Housing NSW and other service partner networks.

Both our Employment and Vocational Support Program and 
Ageing Program have contributed to improving the quality-
of-life indicators for NSW PLHIV.

Our Peer-Led Partner Notification (PLPN) program in 
partnership with NSW Sexual Health Information Link 
(SHIL) and the HIV Support Program (HSP) continues to 
support PLHIV and newly diagnosed peers along with our 
sexual and injecting partners.

Community events 
and social inclusion
Our social support and inclusion groups continue to 
challenge HIV stigma and discrimination through various 
community events and our Positive Speakers Bureau 
(PSB). We delivered education programs and social support 



through our face to face [+Connect] and online Positive 
Conversations events for all people living with HIV, and 
expanded our Peer2Peer group for gay and bisexual men 
to both Sydney and Hunter New England areas. We also 
expanded our work for people who identify as heterosexual 
living with HIV to two online groups (The Women’s Room 
for women under 45 years of age; and For Women welcoming 
women over 45 years of age), the Social Club for all people 
living with HIV who identify as heterosexual, and The Men’s 
Room for men living with HIV who identify as heterosexual. 
Some events were impacted by COVID-19, such as the In 

The Know information and treatments sessions which was 
able to hold a face-to-face event in June 2022 covering the 
latest developments in treatment and research updates. We 
also held an a[STARTx] in-person workshop for recently 
diagnosed gay men in partnership with ACON. Positive Life 
also held community events throughout the year including 
World AIDS Day 2021, Fair Day and Mardi Gras Parade 2022, 
the 2022 Australian National Day of Women Living with 
HIV (NDWLHIV), the annual Sydney Candlelight Memorial 
in partnership with ACON, and the Yaralla House social 
community BBQs.

Positive Life NSW participating in and hosting a variety of social and community events, including Fair Day, Mardi Gras 
Parade, and the annual Sydney Candlelight Memorial, representing and supporting all PLHIV in NSW.

People Living with HIV Northern Territory

Over the last 12 months we have had a slight reduction in 
our support groups for our community. Some of the factors 
were related to COVID-19 and staff capacity.

Immigration issues
Our social inclusion groups consist of Indigenous, culturally 
and linguistically diverse (CALD), and other local members 
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with some of these moving from interstate. We have one 
CALD male member from the Men’s social inclusion group 
who continues to struggle with the lack of immigration 
support in relation to his visa status. Gradually over the last 
few years there has been a reduction in support from some 
departments. This individual must now apply every three 
months for a Medicare card. This process itself takes up to 
four weeks to process which leaves this individual without 
being able to get scripts for the comorbidities he is now 
facing. Being here for almost 11 years with no decision being 
made about whether he should stay in this country has had 
an enormous effect on his mental health and wellbeing.

We have seen several HIV-positive CALD community 
members attend several of the events that have been held 
over the last 12 months. There are several CALD positive 
community members who are still working through the 
processes of navigating the requirements of immigration 
pathways. This is mostly around responding to a Health 
Waiver requirement of their visa applications. This 
continues to be one of the main reasons CALD clients 
access support from the Care and Support Program. Legal 
assistance from the HIV/AIDS Legal Centre (HALC) has been 
incredibly supportive with several of our CALD community 
clients.

Social inclusion and 
service delivery
There were several social inclusion events held for the 
Women’s and Men’s support groups separately over the 
last 12 months. Five of these events were outings. It’s been 
clearly articulated to us from a member of the Women’s 
support group how important these events are.

Several of our Indigenous clients have been struggling with 
adherence to their medication and blood monitoring. These 
clients have already identified social determinants playing 
a part in their personal health and wellbeing, including 
overcrowding in housing and disclosure within the family 
unit and community.

Clinic 34 in Darwin has recently engaged a new Nurse 
Practitioner who comes with a wealth of knowledge around 
HIV and has already identified areas of improvement around 
treatment. We have also seen an increase in several PLHIV 
struggling with their mental health. We have been able to 
refer to our in-house counselling service which is one day 

a week for one of our clients. Navigating mental health and 
other complex issues relating to living with HIV is varied 
depending on whether the person is newly diagnosed or 
has been living with HIV for a longer time. Just over 50% 
of PLHIV who come through Clinic 34 or NTAHC are over 
60 years of age. Aging well with HIV is also a significant 
consideration for service delivery.

Staffing and funding
Rebekah Lamb has finished up in the position of Care 
and Support Coordinator for Women and has taken up a 
position with ASHM. Rebekah was a valued staff member 
who was persistent and proved that she was able to connect 
with, understand, and listen to our women living with HIV 
community members. We have engaged a new person for 
that role who brings with her a wealth of knowledge around 
social inclusion and women’s health and has already begun 
to connect with the Women’s Group. Del from the Women’s 
Group was able to attend the NAPWHA forum in 2022.

Social inclusion support groups are an important part of the 
programs we run throughout the Northern Territory. In the 
last few years, we have unfortunately seen a reduction in 
financial support to continue to run these important groups. 
Conversations are ongoing to discuss where our funds will 
be dispersed in the coming financial year. We have allocated 
all possible financial support equally for the Women’s Group 
and the Men’s Group, and will be looking at other funding 
streams to hopefully increase the current allocation. 

NAPWHA had planned to visit Darwin during this last 
year, but unfortunately due to COVID-19 it hasn’t occurred 
yet. You will always be welcome and supported to visit us 
here in the NT. We would like to acknowledge NAPWHA’s 
ongoing support of people living with HIV in the NT and the 
organisations here that support us.



People Living with HIV Tasmania

(See reports from Associate Member: Positive Lives Tasmania and Affiliate Member: TasCAHRD)

Positive Life South Australia

Positive Life South Australia (PLSA) continues to survive 
into our sixth year without any government funding or 
assistance. Despite the challenges from both COVID-19 
and now the Monkeypox virus (MPXV) we are still here. Our 
advocacy voice is still strong and being heard when raising 
the issues impacting on people living with HIV’s (PLHIV’s) 
quality of life. Key issues that PLHIV in SA struggle with 
currently are the rising cost of living, the ongoing cost of 
HIV medication and other medications often not on the PBS, 
and finding GPs who are willing to bulk bill and who have 
HIV-specific medical knowledge. We have highlighted these 
challenges at the STI and HIV Sub-Advisory Committee and 
we aim to remain dominant in this space.

Social inclusion
The monthly Friday community Positive Lounge Gathering 
(PLG) is well attended by 15 to 20 community members. We 
have an amazing massage volunteer, Hugh, who enhances 
our overall health and wellbeing with natural therapies. 
We are expanding the guest speakers’ program to keep 
up to date with new injectable treatments, self-testing 
HIV kits, and dental care. An interesting range of program 
guest speakers will continue at the PLG and are a fabulous 
opportunity to share and learn about others’ lives.

Preparing food and receiving a massage at the monthly Friday community event, the Positive Lounge Gathering (PLG).

Shared Voices is another group of PLHIV who meet 
monthly and provide peer support with worker support 
from Relationships Australia and the peer worker Megan. 

PLHIV in SA are generally quite isolated and really value 
the networking opportunities, especially those with social 
connections.
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Community events
In partnership with SAMESH, we held two key events 
during this reporting period. On Sunday 15 May we held an 
intimate Candlelight Memorial which was a very emotional 
and moving event. A diverse group of PLHIV and those 
affected by HIV in some way openly shared personal stories 
of love, loss, and grief. Some people spoke, for the first time 
in decades, about the passing of family members. It was very 
moving and respectful as each person lit a candle and shared 
heartfelt memories of a deceased family member, friend, or 
partner, and what that person really meant to them.

Kath and Craig 
at the PLSA 
Candlelight 
Memorial event. 
It was a small 
and emotional 
gathering.

Membership and 
services
In last 12 months we have had 22 new members join, 
most coming from RDNS referrals but occasionally also 
self-referrals. A benefit of PLSA membership is access 
to SA Ambulance Cover. Keeping people covered with an 
ambulance membership ensures they do not fall through 
the gaps and prevents them ending up with a $1000 bill 
and further adding to financial stress. The challenge of 
maintaining this level of coverage for all members is great, 
but the value to PLHIV is immeasurable, providing peace of 
mind and reassurance that assistance will be provided in a 
medical emergency.

We have had an increase in the number of international 
students asking us about access to HIV treatments, being 

Medicare ineligible, and the impact on work visas. These 
queries are usually referred to our Peer Navigator, Craig 
Shrubsole.

We have provided several Positive Speakers Bureau (PSB) 
speaking engagements to medical students at the University 
of South Australia. These are wonderful opportunities to 
provide HIV awareness education and share PLHIV’s lived 
experiences. Working together with SAMESH, we hope 
to expand the number of trained PSB Speakers with an 
updated training program for all Speakers.

The Food Pantry continues to be a successful project, as it 
provides food and grocery items, a connection to workers, 
and a friendly face that cares.

Acknowledgements 
and thanks
The PLSA Board are a dedicated group who are committed to 
ensuring that the profile of PLSA in SA remains strong and 
that our diverse voices are clearly, strongly, and boldly heard 
right across SA and acted upon.

We thank NAPWHA and Positive Life NSW for their ongoing 
support, funding contributions to the SA Peer Navigator 
position, and sharing of information. We look forward to 
building stronger networks in other states and territories 
where we share many commonalities.

The four South Australian representatives at the NAPWHA 
SGM/Members Meeting.



Positive Living Australian Capital Territory

This year we have continued our program to maintain and 
establish strong working relationships with other agencies 
that our clients access. With our client numbers increasing, 
these partnerships are important for creating a seamless 
model of service delivery and ensuring the best outcomes 
are achieved. We continue to work towards the highest level 
of understanding for the journey of a person living with HIV, 
and to review the diversity of services required, now and for 
the future.

Community 
connections
During COVID-19 it has been a challenge to maintain in-
person social connections within the positive community. 
Many clients had chosen to maintain increased social 
distancing, but doing so led, in some cases, to higher 
levels of isolation than expected. We continue to build on 
reconnecting clients through our social events, as well as 
through our services.

A strong case management framework has enabled us to 
work with clients to ensure goals have still been met during 
this period. Upskilling clients to be able to use Telehealth, 
and online services in general, has helped us keep clients 
connected to care and support services and peer activities. 
The need for case management did not decrease during 
COVID-19; rather, it increased, as did the need to be flexible 
to meet our clients’ needs.

Events
We continued to drive Worlds AIDS Day and Candlelight 
Memorial events and sought to engage the positive 
community in delivering these events. We had to pivot 
World AIDS Day in 2021, and the event was held virtually 
with pre-recorded talks from community remembers at 
the AIDS Garden of Reflection. The opening address was 
given by the new President of Meridian, Andrew Robertson; 
reflections were delivered by Dr Clara Tuck Meng Soo and 
Dr Sarah Martin, both long-term HIV clinicians, and Board 

member Danny Ryding. The Canberra Qwire performed, and 
there was a digital tour of the AIDS Garden of Reflection 
at the National Arboretum in Canberra with John Mackay 
AM and Richard Allen. The video of World AIDS Day 2021 
can be viewed on YouTube. 

The Candlelight Memorial event in the ACT in 2022.

Staffing changes
Our case worker Greg left us in late 2021, and we wish him 
the best in his new role with Queensland Positive People. 
Filling this space has taken longer than expected, but we 
now have a new case manager, Danny, starting in July 2022. 
Danny comes with a background of work in the alcohol 
and other drugs sector, and he is already known to many 
members through his attendance at peer events.

https://www.nationalarboretum.act.gov.au/living-collections/gardens/gallery-of-gardens/aids-garden-of-reflection
https://youtu.be/HuGS1f2rPXo
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Activity funding
With another funding cycle in motion, we are participating 
in the commissioning process for funding the activities 
we have traditionally undertaken. Commissioning is the 
practice of funding activities, not organisations, and as a 

smaller organisation, this has required an extensive amount 
of time and concern. With no new funding available, we 
are having to enter a process of designing service provision 
with other organisations within the blood-borne virus sector 
and deciding which activities should be prioritised. This is 
providing many challenges.

Positive Organisation Western Australia

WA braced itself for COVID-19 (Omicron) at the beginning of 
this year as it opened its borders to other states in Australia 
and international arrivals. Management of Omicron has 
again dominated this past year with the consequential costs 
to in-person social meetings and reduced mental health 
and quality of life for WA communities. However, we have 
remained focused on supporting each other through difficult 
times, mostly by being kind and listening to one another, 
as many of us were exposed to COVID-19 for the first time. 
Omicron is now waning in WA and the new focus has been 
on the potential public health response required for the 

Monkeypox Virus 
(MPV), while still 
protecting and 
being conscious 
of people who 
remain on alert 
with masks and 
COVID-19 vaccine 
booster regimes.

WA Department of 
Health
Engagement with the WA Department of Health reflected 
high levels of collaboration and mutual respect. This was 
mostly demonstrated through the co-design framework 
deployed in the production of the BBV Stigma and 
Discrimination e-package project, which is an eLearning 
module (including videos) to be implemented for all WA 
Department of Health staff. Broadly, the module aims to 
reduce stigma and discrimination in WA health care settings.

WA AIDS Council
We continued to consolidate the working relationship with 
the WA AIDS Council (WAAC) over the course of 2021/22 
with our respective leadership group having regular informal 
monthly meetings; POWA participation and representation 
with WAAC’s reference group for PLHIV (WAACify); and 
invitations accepted to speak at some World AIDS Day 
events (Dec 2021) and the International AIDS Candlelight 
Memorial (May 2022). The POWA Board is committed to 
having their professional and organisational relationship 
with WAAC be as productive as possible.



POWA and WAAC representatives at community events, and 
a World AIDS Day billboard in Perth city.

Special thank you 
Diane Lloyd has consistently stepped up in her commitment 
to advocacy for women and all people with HIV on a 
local and national level. Diane also commits her time to 
fundraising for POWA through the steady collection of 
bottles for change. However, what is even more remarkable 
is her consistent efforts even though new personal health 
challenges emerged. Amazing effort Diane, thank you. 

Cipri Martinez with MP Louise Pratt.

Community
The POWA Board have initiated a Social Brunch community 
engagement program for the months of September, October, 
and November 2022. There is much patient and persistent 
social programming required in WA as we rebuild trust and 
emerge from an extended period of high public health alert 
and isolation. 

Ageing with HIV
The POWA Board would like to acknowledge Nigel C. for his 
systemic thinking models applied to this space and other 
policy matters. We appreciate his talent and commitment 
to drive valuable policy change and thinking in a space 
where progress can appear glacial and where stakeholders 
have been focused on other priorities and challenges. The 
consistent volunteer efforts from Nigel are very much 
appreciated.

WA HIV Peer 
Navigation and 
Support
Ongoing conversations between POWA, WAAC, and other 
stakeholders will hopefully be progressed further as we 
endeavour to raise the standard and consistent access of 
HIV Peer Navigation and Support in WA. 

In conclusion
As WA borders continue their normalisation process, 
challenges pre-COVID-19 will again re-emerge, hopefully 
with new mechanisms in place to assist people who are 
Medicare ineligible, so that real and permanent shifts in the 
WA HIV epidemic can be maintained. Thank you to the body 
positive organisations across Australia, and in particular 
NAPWHA, which provides us with crucial program and 
policy support, National leadership, and coordination. Lastly, 
thank you to people living with HIV in Western Australia, 
together we can continue to make things better.

Cipriano Martinez 
Chairperson, Positive Organisation WA Inc.
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Queensland Positive People

While 2021-22 marked the significant milestones of 40 
years since HIV/AIDS was first identified, and 32 years since 
Queensland Positive People (QPP) was established, it was a year 
of new and exciting chapters for QPP in many ways. We started 
the year with a fresh QPP Strategic Plan 2021-2025 and a new 
5-year service agreement with Queensland Health.

Behind the scenes work continued in earnest and we 
are incredibly proud to have obtained accreditation and 
certification under the Health Services Quality Framework.

We are proud to share that our clients continue to report 
exceptionally high levels of client satisfaction across all 
programs, alongside improvements in knowledge, well-
being, and health. The QPP Engagement Survey 2021/22 
also captured the valuable insights of QPP’s community 
members who are not clients. The message is clear - people 
living with HIV (PLHIV) in Queensland want expanded social 
support, peer networking, educational programs, and more 
visibility of community advocates, especially in regional 
Queensland. We are incredibly grateful for the time QPP’s 
community members and clients take to provide feedback 
and we look forward to co-designing, developing, and 
implementing the recommendations with our community 
over the next 12 months. 

We have made incredible progress and have so much to be 
proud of and celebrate. Please see below for some of the key 
highlights for 2021-22.

RAPID Program
• The RAPID HIV and STI point of care testing program 

delivered 6,587 occasions of service through the 
Brisbane clinic and outreach at sex on premises venues 
and university campuses. 

• 405 HIV home testing kits were also distributed.

Life + Program
• The Life + Program continued to provide peer 

navigation and case management support to over 400 
PLHIV across Queensland. This included emotional and 

psychological support, assistance with treatment access 
and adherence, housing, mental health, substance use, 
and stigma and discrimination.

• The Peer Navigation Program has continued to expand 
its scope and activities and includes emotional and 
social support; peer connection, education, navigation; 
and community development: 

• QPP coordinates and hosts several in-person and 
online social groups. In-person social groups in 
Brisbane and on the Gold and Sunshine Coasts 
had over 120 regular attendees. There were also 14 
online social groups and 10 national online chat 
and information sessions on mental health and the 
moving landscape of COVID-19. 

• The Community Advisory Group continued to meet 
regularly and contributed to the development of QPP 
grants and submissions.

• Participation in the Human Library at the 
Queensland State Library and attendance at a 
number of community events including PRIDE and 
NAIDOC celebrations.

• Planning is well underway for ‘Digital Health 
Connect’ Grant, which is coming to regional 
Queensland from September 2022. Peer Navigators 
will travel across Queensland and deliver digital 
literacy workshops to PLHIV including provision of 
computers to eligible participants.

QPP’s multicultural group’s Harmony Week art piece.



QPP staff attending professional development training.

Stigma and 
Discrimination 
Program

• The HIV/AIDS Legal Centre (HALC) supported 58 QPP-
referred clients for immigration, discrimination, privacy, 
and insurance matters. Our client referral pathway 
with HALC has allowed greater hope for better legal 
outcomes for clients, as well as contributing to more 
equitable access to justice.

• The program has also expanded services to include:

• HIV legal literacy workshops and webinars

• Legal clinic for PLHIV 

• Additional education training for QPP staff. 

QPP’s ‘I AM HUMAN” campaign on the march.

Advocacy and Policy
It has been another year of significant advocacy and policy 
reform including submissions and briefings for the:

• Decriminalisation of HIV and law reform with the 
Queensland Government Office of the Attorney 
General. QPP is advocating for vital changes to the 
Queensland Criminal Code Act to ensure that law 
recognises the science associated with undetectable = 
untransmissible (U=U).

• Queensland Parliamentary Inquiry into Social Isolation 
and Loneliness in Queensland, including attendance at 
the public hearing as a witness. 

• Review of the Queensland Anti-Discrimination Act 
1991 (‘the Act’) by the Queensland Human Rights 
Commission.

• Consultation Paper: A framework for a decriminalised 
sex work industry in Queensland.

Chris, Melissa, and Mark - Inquiry into Social Isolation.

Emergency Funds
• QPP administers four funds that aim to alleviate the 

impacts of financial hardship for PLHIV. Over $55,000 
of funding was provided to 170 people. 

World AIDS Day
• A significant World AIDS Day campaign was celebrated 

in 2021: ‘It’s been 40 years of HIV and who would have 
thought?’

• The positive voice informed the digital campaign, 
Candlelight Vigils in Brisbane and Cairns, and media 
engagements. Four regional World AIDS Grants were 
distributed across Queensland.



39Annual Report  |  2021 - 2022

The Queensland Candlelight Memorial speech and display.

Communications 
• We are delighted to announce the new QPP website.

• Public health and education blogs have continued. 
We are working closely with our community and 
government partners to ensure our communities have 
the most up to date information on the response to 
MPXV, including developments on transmission and 
vaccination program roll outs.

2022-23: What lies 
ahead…
Our commitment to delivering enhanced and additional 
peer and multi-disciplinary services across the life span of 
PLHIV will continue tenaciously. This includes building 
relationships and pursuing funding opportunities with 
several Queensland government departments, Primary 
Health Networks, industry, and philanthropy. QPP is also 
engaging with a consultant to develop a series of business 
cases to explore providing services through MyAgedCare, 
NDIS, and the Medicare Benefits Scheme. 

Queensland will also be hosting two significant HIV 
conferences in the next 12-18 months. The Sunshine 
Coast will host the Australasian HIV and Sexual Health 
Conference in August 2022, and then Brisbane will host the 
International AIDS Society: HIV Science Conference in July 
2023. 

QPP’s vision is that both conferences will be deeply 
nourished by the voices of PLHIV. These are important 
opportunities for the Queensland HIV+ community and 
allies to influence the strategic direction of research by 
shining lights on where the gaps are and generating interest 
and commitment from the research community to fill 
the gaps. We need to keep shining a light on stigma and 
discrimination, and how it permeates every level of living 
with HIV and exacerbates personal, social, and structural 
barriers for well-being, health, and access to services.

We would like to thank the QPP community, staff, and board 
for their gracious support, dedication, and commitment as 
we continue to nourish our foundations and grow together.

https://www.qpp.org.au/
https://hivshconferences.com.au/
https://hivshconferences.com.au/
https://www.iasociety.org/news/ias-2023-worlds-largest-scientific-conference-hiv-will-be-held-brisbane-and-virtually


Associate Members

Bobby Goldsmith Foundation

COVID-19 continued to impact every aspect of the support 
we have been able to provide PLHIV this year – from the 
long months of lockdown, to isolating staff and clients 
against the risk of COVID-19, and the logistics involved in 
ramping up our need for PPE. We adapted at a fast pace, and 
it was a steep learning curve for us all.

BGF shining a light on HIV stigma in the Mardi Gras Parade.

Community support
Despite all this, we also had moments of great joy and were 
able to achieve things we are so very proud of. Our team of 
Community Support Workers grew to meet the needs of 
NDIS clients and those in the community who need BGF to 
continue to live independently. Our Financial Counsellors 
helped to wipe off thousands of dollars of debt for our 
clients, providing enormous relief to them as they juggle 
their financial stresses. Our Case Mangers and Case Workers 
increased their outreach visits and support to clients across 
NSW and SA at a time of great need this past year. Our 
Health and Wellbeing programs proved incredibly innovative 
and adaptive, ensuring a strengthened online offering of 

workshops where necessary and taking every opportunity 
to be safely social where it was possible. We expanded our 
work in Parramatta providing food hampers to clients in 
lockdown, helping us to extend our support and reach to 
emerging communities in Greater Sydney. These activities 
helped us support both the physical and mental health of all 
our clients at the most extraordinary of times, with a focus 
on helping them to thrive.

A BGF Case Worker with a client.

An OzHarvest 
food hamper being 
delivered to a BGF 
client in lockdown.
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NDIS Registration
Over the last year, we have made significant progress 
towards becoming an NDIS registered provider. Working 
alongside an experienced consultant, we are updating our 
policies and procedures to meet the NDIS standards required 
for registration and in turn, to improve the efficiency of the 
organisation. NDIS registration will mean that we are able 
to take on new referrals and provide continuity of care for 
existing clients.

Growth of Health and 
Well-being programs
With the easing of social restrictions at the start of 2022, 
we launched our client ‘Social Day Out’ as part of our suite 
of Health and Well-being programs. The thinking behind 
our ‘Social Day Out’ program is to provide all-day excursions 
that provide opportunities for PLHIV to have a safe space 
to meet other peers, catch up with old friends, and share 
new experiences together. Excursions have included a trip 
to Sydney Aquarium, the Blue Mountains, and the new 
OzHarvest restaurant in Surry Hills.

Response to Northern 
Rivers floods
The intense storms and rains in Northern New South Wales 
earlier this year caused significant damage, and in some 
cases, total destruction of homes and property. We have 

Social Day Out excursions to the Blue Mountains and the 
OzHarvest restaurant.

67 clients in the Northern Rivers region and the storms left 
many of them struggling to get back on their feet. Thanks to 
the generosity of supporters, we were able to provide advice 
and financial support to help rebuild their homes, lives, and 
community.

Body Positive New Zealand

Current trends
Highlights from 2021 included over 100 days in lockdown. 
Services were provided through telephone and virtual 
support until we reopened in January 2022. We updated our 
mental health resources as anxiety and isolation took their 

toll and created content discussing advanced care planning 
as the End of Life Choice Act came into effect.

Consistent with overseas trends we had a low record of HIV 
transmission with 45 local cases reported. It remains to see 
whether this is an effect of closed borders and lockdowns or 
a decreased engagement in testing.

https://bodypositive.org.nz/Pages/HIV_and_MentalHealth/
https://bodypositive.org.nz/Pages/HIV_and_EndOfLife/


Events
The Candlelight Memorial managed to be in person and 
was our first event in real life with World AIDS Day and the 
Men’s Retreat being cancelled. Attendance was down and 
some regional candlelight events were cancelled but it was 
good to come together and highlights the need to rebuild 
social connection.

The Candlelight Memorial held by Body Positive New Zealand.

Peer Support
Our peer support had shifted to remote support, and this 
has continued. The online zoom meetups worked during 
lockdown but quickly dissipated afterward. We introduced 
a new service providing peer outreach on dating apps for 
peer education and sexual health advice. The peer-led 
PrEP service (iPrEP) continues and has been extended to 
incorporate peer-led telehealth for PrEP access. Access to 
PrEP remains a barrier with limited uptake and ongoing 
challenges. Differentiated service delivery and peer-led 
service models were a key theme at recent conferences 
and highlight that these should be valued and expanded to 
include PEP and ART.

Campaigns
Sperm Positive launched a book highlighting Amy and 
the seven other babies who are each living proof that HIV 
cannot be passed on. This has generated lots of interest 
from PLHIV that did not realise they could have children 
and in many countries are banned from accessing fertility 
services. This highlights the importance of U=U and our 
Can’t Pass it On campaign to increase awareness in the 
general public to address stigma and discrimination.

Baby Amy from the recently launched book Sperm Positive, 
who is proof that vertical transmission of HIV can be 
prevented.

New initiatives
The government produced an HIV Action Plan which is the 
first National Strategy for HIV in twenty years. This has 
funding committed toward it over four years and is focused 
on community-led person-centred approaches. This will 
hopefully provide much needed support for the initiatives 
we currently undertake without funding and to support new 
initiatives.

One initiative which has received funding is the work in 
sexualised drug use. We collaborated on a group submission 
for support and education on Chemsex. The rewired program 
originally from Melbourne has been running for a number 
of years and has now been funded. This will extend this 
program to include development of resources and support 
education in the workforce to raise awareness of this 
practice. Consent within the sexualised drug use scene is 
another area of work along with the supply of poppers in a 
medicalised setting.

https://spermpositive.com/
https://bodypositive.org.nz/Pages/Undetectable/
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Positive Lives Tasmania

Long Term Survivors 
Day
This year we celebrated Long Term Survivors Day with the 
support of the Tasmanian Leader of the Greens, Cassie 
O’Connor, who gave a detailed and heartfelt speech to 
Parliament House describing the importance of Long Term 
Survivors Day and the unmet needs of Tasmanians still 
living with the after-effects of HIV.

Members
We continue to increase membership even with the sad loss 
of three members to HIV-related illness. However, our late 
COVID-19 wave has hindered us in our efforts with face-to-face 
meetings. It is evident from our contact that our membership is 
wanting increased social contact, and many are suffering from 
cost of living expenses in a poor state like Tasmania.

Partnerships and 
stakeholders
The President attended the NAPWHA SGM in June and 
obtained support from QPP and Positive Life NSW for the 
development of a Peer Navigator Program and funding grant 
submissions. We also had valuable insight and support 
from South Australia's Kath Leane and Peer Navigator Craig 
Shrubsole around issues for smaller jurisdictions.

The Board of Positive Lives Tasmania (PLT) is currently 
seeking a meeting with the Tasmanian Premier for a small 
grant to enable us to undertake a needs assessment of 
PLHIV in Tasmania. It is hoped that this meeting will also 
address the lack of the Health Department’s HIV strategy 
that stalled with the advent of COVID-19.

We have also renewed and invigorated our relationship with 
Sexual Health Services across the state with meetings and 
the supply of promotional materials. We continue to engage 
with Sexual Health Services and are using their clinics and 
social media to continue with our U=U promotion.

Iain McPhee 
President, Positive Lives Tasmania

Positive Women Victoria

In another year at the intersection of two pandemics, 
we’ve been reminded again that personal health and 
wellbeing and social health and wellbeing are intimately 
related. Lockdowns in Victoria were a frustration and a 
disappointment, but also, a spur to do things differently 
and reflect on service provision and its challenges more 
generally.

Part of that was about technologies (using them better and 
smarter, but also encouraging our members to engage online 

as well), but it was also about the broader context in which 
women with HIV live. Our members have many needs beyond 
just “living with HIV”, and we have spent considerable time 
over the past 18 months focused on how they might be met, 
whether they are legal (immigration or visa status, family 
law or family violence, discrimination), financial barriers 
(women living with HIV have on average lower incomes than 
are reported by men in the HIV Futures Study), or access to 
employment opportunity or housing. Moreover, we are in a 
constrained environment right across the health system, with 



counselling and mental health services increasingly difficult to 
access in a timely manner, many health services challenged by 
COVID-19 management or unable to find and retain staff, and 
competing health priorities.

We have created a PWV Service Delivery Framework focused 
on building new partnerships and referral pathways to 
safe and appropriate services for women living with HIV 
who have complex needs, and have introduced an up-
to-date integrated database to manage our events, our 
communications, and our client and member services data.

We’ve continued to expand our core programs (peer support, 
social and community connectedness through events, and 
our advocacy platform). We are now running regular info 
webinars, and a ground-breaking podcast series in which 
women living with HIV share their stories.

In 2021 were delighted to be awarded a ViiV Positive Action 
Community Grant to undertake a unique leadership and 
development program just for women living with HIV. 
Reaching Your Potential is a course of four facilitated 
workshops focused on communication skills, interview 
techniques and being in front of a camera, and hearing from 
peers about the history of women’s HIV advocacy and its 
achievements to inspire a new generation of positive women.

PWV is grateful as always to our wonderful Victorian partner 
organisations, including Living Positive Victoria and Thorne 
Harbour Health, and the support and leadership of these 
critical health agencies. We are also grateful for the ongoing 
support of the Department of Health.

A particularly bright note in these times was the game-
changing Victorian Sex Work Decriminalisation Bill which 
was a crucial step in righting long-standing injustices against 
people who work in the sex industry and ensuring that the 
wellbeing of workers is protected through an occupational 
health and safety framework rather than a punitive model 
which criminalises workers.

NAPWHA and PWV have continued our strong relationship 
and our joint effort has achieved two internationally 
important resources to support women living with HIV who 
are considering their infant feeding options, highlighting the 
growing consensus that breastfeeding is a viable option for 
many mothers who live with HIV. This work was presented 
at ASHM 2021, the International Workshop on Women and 
HIV, and AIDS 2022.

Kirsty Machon 
Executive Officer, Positive Women Victoria

Pozhet

Pozhet is a state-wide service funded by the NSW Ministry 
of Health and hosted by Sydney Local Health District. It is 
located at the Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, Camperdown 
campus in Sydney and managed by the HIV and Related 
Programs Unit, Population Health. Pozhet offers news and 
information about HIV, including the latest on testing and 
prevention; campaigns encouraging people to consider 

their risk of HIV and how they can reduce the chance 
of acquisition; information, support, and referral to key 
services; creates opportunities for heterosexual PLHIV to 
meet each other and share their stories and experiences; and 
offers advocacy, advice, and training to support services to 
work better with heterosexual PLHIV.

Estrela+

Estrela+ is a membership association of people living 
with HIV and AIDS (PLHIV) in Timor-Leste which works 
to improve the quality of the lives of all PLHIV in Timor-

Leste through advocating for the recognition, respect, and 
promotion of the rights of PLHIV at the local, national, and 
international level.

https://pozhet.org.au/
http://www.estrelaplus.com/
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Igat Hope

Igat Hope is an organisation representing people living with 
HIV (PLHIV) in Papua New Guinea (PNG). It is essential to 
an effective HIV response in PNG and the involvement of 
PLHIV at every level of the HIV response is critical.

NAPWHA continues to work in partnership with Igat Hope 
in Papua New Guinea. This work is currently supported 
through a small grant called the Collaboration for Health 
in PNG (CHPNG). Our friends in PNG had many HIV and 
ART service interruptions due to COVID-19 and are trying 
to get back on their feet again. NAPWHA is attending zoom 
events when we can, such as the upcoming meeting on HIV 
and ageing in PNG. NAPWHA maintains connections with 
the Key Affected Populations working group in PNG and 

where possible we try to support Igat Hope to maintain a 
functioning organisation that directly represents the interest 
of PLHIV in PNG.

https://www.igathope.org/


Affiliate Member

TasCAHRD

Communications
During the last 12 months, TasCAHRD has been engaging 
with the positive community within Tasmania, keeping 
people updated with current trends including the Monkeypox 
Virus (MPXV) through our social media, weekly radio spot on 
community radio, and quarterly magazine specifically designed 
to contain health updates (with a discrete but extensive public 
distribution network - 16,000 copies distributed during the 
year). We have also re-invigorated our newsletter which is now 
being sent out monthly.

TasCAHRD attends most LGBTQIA+ events and records 
vox pops related to specific activities such as youth, sexual 
health, HIV and BBV awareness, and MPXV.

We broadcast weekly on our community radio program with 
a youth focus. We are about to launch Queer Youth Tasmania 
with youth-focused events around health outcomes with 
stigma and discrimination as an ongoing theme.

S100 prescribers
TasCAHRD has worked closely with ASHM to more than 
double the number of S100 prescribers within Tasmania 
over the last 12 months. As a state, we have gone from 6 to 
14 practitioners.

Student and 
incarceration support
We continue to work with the University of Tasmania on 
many levels including attending Orientation Week and 
targeted engagements. We also provide student support as 

required. We have worked closely with medical students to 
ensure their knowledge around all forms of BBVs is up to 
scratch and they understand what it is like to be living with 
HIV today.

We have continued to work within the prison system and 
support people on parole.

Health promotion
TasCAHRD continues to work with the Tasmanian 
Government to ensure that appropriate language is used 
in all government information resources, and we are the 
Tasmanian Government’s primary community support 
partner regarding MPXV.

TasCAHRD continues our well established BBV information 
seminars where we are invited by organisations and schools 
to present on BBVs. These seminars include a section on 
HIV, living with HIV, and stigma and discrimination.

Financial assistance
Over the last 12 months we have distributed $10,000 to our 
local community in the form of financial assistance targeted 
around healthcare, medication, utility bills, emergency 
housing relief, and a variety of essential items as requested.

Partnerships
We have also offered support to Positive Lives Tasmania and 
their members when requested.

Grahame Foster 
President, TasCAHRD
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Treasurer’s report

The Association recorded an operating surplus of $189,745 
for the year ending 30 June 2022 which was within range of 
Board expectations and the result of another year of diligent 
and considered budget oversight by NAPWHA’s Executive 
Director and Board. 

Total revenue for the year was up 16.5% on 2021 and was 
$1,379,217, while total expenditure also grew, up from 
$944,482 in 2021 to $1,189,472 in 2022.

Although smaller than the surplus in 2021 ($238,945), 
the surplus in 2022 is large by historical standards for 
NAPWHA. However, the number should be considered in 
the context of the broader funding environment within 
which it was recorded, and with some caution. 

In 2022, the primary financial risk to the Association was 
again funding uncertainty. Management of those risks was 
further complicated by the political implications of a Federal 
election and expectations of a change of government. All 
this created planning and delivery uncertainty requiring 
NAPWHA to take a cautious approach to program 
expenditure.

Overall, the accounts demonstrate NAPWHA’s long term 
strategy born out of difficult lessons learnt when NAPWHA 
faced funding cuts around 2016. The Association continues 
to build on its financial strength and reserves and remains 
committed to and able to invest in strategic priorities, such 
as the Fit for the Future governance review planned for 
2023. 2022 also saw an expansion of NAPWHA’s national 
networks representative structures which will require 
financing in the coming years.

Danny Ryding 
Secretary/Treasurer, 
National Association of People with HIV Australia
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 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) 

INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The names of Board members throughout the year and at the date of this report are:

Scott Harlum - President (appointed 26/11/2021)
Sarah Feagan – Vice President (appointed 27/11/2020)
Danny Ryding  – Secretary/Treasurer (appointed 26/11/2021) 
Steven Spencer (appointed 27/11/2020)
Steven Lunny (appointed 27/11/2020)
Diane Lloyd (appointed 27/11/2020 stepped down 14/05/2022)
Justin Xiao (appointed 26/11/2021)
Simon O’Connor (appointed 26/11/2021)

Aaron Cogle – Executive Director 
Charlie Tredway - Staff Representative: up until 02/09/2022  
Beau Newham - Staff Representative 24/09/2022 - current  

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Association during the financial year were:

5. Formulation of policies for member organisations on matters concerning HIV/AIDS at a national and 
international level;

6. Representation of member organisations on all matters concerning HIV/AIDS at a national and 
international level; and

7. Collection and dissemination of information and resources for distribution to member organisations.

Your Board members submit the financial report of  National Association of People With HIV Australia 
(NAPWHA) Incorporated, for the financial year ended 30 June 2022.

Board Members

1. Advancing the human rights and dignity of people with HIV/AIDS, including their right to participate in 
the Australian Community without discrimination and their right to comprehensive and appropriate 
treatment, care support and education;

2. Advocacy on national issues concerning people with HIV/AIDS;

3. Provision of assistance to people affected by HIV/AIDS, including the provision of material, emotional 
and social support;

4. Encouragement, assistance, monitoring and promotion of medical and scientific research into the 
causes, prevention and cure of HIV/AIDS;

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 1



 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) 

INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

Significant Changes

No significant change in the nature of these activities occurred during the year.

Operating Result

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the members of the Board.

Scott Harlum

President    

Danny Ryding 

Treasurer

Dated this 31st day of October 2022    

The surplus from ordinary activities after providing for income tax amounted to $189,745 (2021 Surplus: 
$238,945).

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 2



Portman Newton

In accordance with the requirements of section 60-40 of the Australian Charities and Not for Profits
Commission Act 2012, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the financial year 
ended 30 June 2022 there have been:

NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) INCORPORATED
AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION TO THE MEMBERS OF

1.  No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Australian Charities and Not
for Profits Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and 

2. no contravention of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

3

   

Wei Chong CA

Signed this 31st day of October 2022, in Sydney.

3



 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) 

INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

2022 2021
Note $ $

Revenue 2 1,376,308             1,180,873               

Interest revenue 2,909                    2,554                      

1,379,217             1,183,427               

Expenses

Admistration expenses (388,569)               (322,330)                 
Depreciation and amortisation expenses (14,180)                 (10,133)                   
Project & Program expenses (610,331)               (518,928)                 
Property expenses (25,877)                 (31,381)                   
Conference and meeting expenses (97,754)                 (24,988)                   
Website &  IT (32,780)                 (26,647)                   
Other operating expenses (19,981)                 (10,075)                   

Surplus before income tax expense 189,745                238,945                  

Income tax expense 1 -                            -                              

Surplus after income tax expense for the year 

attributable to the members 189,745                238,945                  

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

Gains on revaluation of buildings -                            245,909                  

Total comprehensive income for the year 

attributable to the members 189,745                484,854                  

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 4



 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) 

INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 30 JUNE 2022

Note 2022 2021
$ $

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 5 2,069,552            1,176,748            
Trade and other receivables 6 13,645                 6,843                   
Other current assets 7 34,523                 15,385                 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 2,117,720            1,198,976            

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 8 1,173,647            1,175,173            

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 1,173,647            1,175,173            

TOTAL ASSETS 3,291,367            2,374,149            

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 9 125,847               56,146                 
Provisions 10 113,976               100,222               
Contract liabilities 11 1,313,844            678,617               

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,553,667            834,985               

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Provisions 10 15,861                 7,070                   

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 15,861                 7,070                   

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,569,528            842,055               

NET ASSETS 1,721,839            1,532,094            

EQUITY
Retained Earnings 1,400,369            1,210,624            
Assets Revaluation Reserve 321,470               321,470               

TOTAL EQUITY 1,721,839            1,532,094            

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 5



 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) 

INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

$ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2020 75,561              971,679           1,047,240              

Gains on revaluation of buildings 245,909            -                  245,909                 

Surplus after income tax expense for the year -                   238,945           238,945                 

Balance at 30 June 2021 321,470            1,210,624        1,532,094              

Surplus after income tax expense for the year -                   189,745           189,745                 

Balance at 30 June 2022 321,470            1,400,369        1,721,839              

   

RETAINED 

EARNINGS
TOTAL

ASSETS  

REVALUATION 

RESERVE  

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 6



 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) 

INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022
Note 2022 2021

$ $

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash Receipts from operating activities 2,138,212         1,590,358         

Payments to suppliers and employees (1,236,348)        (1,016,243)        

Interest received 2,909                2,554                

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 904,773            576,669            

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (11,969)             (11,214)             

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES (11,969)             (11,214)             

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayment of borrowings -                        (27,654)             

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES -                        (27,654)             

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH HELD 892,804           537,801           

1,176,748         638,947            

5 2,069,552         1,176,748         

CASH AT THE BEGINNING OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

CASH AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 7



 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted

Basis of preparation

Revenue recognition

Variable consideration within the transaction price, if any, reflects concessions provided to the customer such as 

discounts, rebates and refunds, any potential bonuses receivable from the customer and any other contingent 

events. Such estimates are determined using either the 'expected value' or 'most likely amount' method. The 

measurement of variable consideration is subject to a constraining principle whereby revenue will only be 

recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue 

recognised will not occur. The measurement constraint continues until the uncertainty associated with the variable 

consideration is subsequently resolved. Amounts received that are subject to the constraining principle are 

recognised as a refund liability.

The Association recognises revenue as follows:

In the officers' opinion, the Association is not a reporting entity because there are no users dependent on general 

purpose financial statements.

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These 

policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The Association has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the 

Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period.

Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early 

adopted.

These are special purpose financial statements that have been prepared for the purposes of complying with the 

Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and the Associations Incorporation Act 1991 (ACT), 

and associated regulations. The officers have determined that the accounting policies adopted are appropriate to 

meet the needs of the members of the Association.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the recognition and measurement requirements 

specified by the Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards 

Board ('AASB') and the disclosure requirements of AASB 101 'Presentation of Financial Statements', AASB 107 

'Statement of Cash Flows', AASB 108 'Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors', AASB 

1048 'Interpretation of Standards' and AASB 1054 'Australian Additional Disclosures', as appropriate for not-for-

profit oriented entities.

Historical cost convention

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Association is expected to be 

entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. For each contract with a customer, the 

Association: identifies the contract with a customer; identifies the performance obligations in the contract; 

determines the transaction price which takes into account estimates of variable consideration and the time value of 

money; allocates the transaction price to the separate performance obligations on the basis of the relative stand-

alone selling price of each distinct good or service to be delivered; and recognises revenue when or as each 

performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that depicts the transfer to the customer of the goods or services 

promised.

Critical accounting estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 

management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Association's accounting policies. The areas 

involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to 

the financial statements, are disclosed below.

8



 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

NOTE 1- STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)

Property, Plant and Equipment

CLASS OF FIXED ASSET

Plant and Equipment 0- 7 years

As a Public Benevolent Institution for the purposes of Subdivision 30-B of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997, the 

Association is exempt from income tax.

Volunteer services

The Association has elected not to recognise volunteer services as either revenue or other form of contribution 

received. As such, any related consumption or capitalisation of such resources received is also not recognised.

Income Tax

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 

reporting date.

Other revenue

Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established.

Freehold land and buildings are carried at their fair value (being the amount for which an asset could be exchanged 

between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length transaction), based on periodic, but at least triennial, 

valuations by external independent valuers, less accumulated depreciation for buildings.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited to a revaluation reserve in 

equity. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are recognised against revaluation reserve 

directly in equity; all other decreases are recognised in profit or loss.

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical cost 

includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit 

to the Association. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to profit or 

loss.

Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis less depreciation and impairment losses.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is reviewed annually by the Association to ensure it is not in 

excess of the recoverable amount from those assets.  The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the 

expected net cash flows that will be received from the assets’ employment and subsequent disposal.  The expected 

net cash flows have not been discounted to their present values in determining recoverable amounts.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of property, plant and 

equipment (excluding land) over their expected useful lives as follows:

Donations

Donations are recognised at the time the pledge is made.

Grants

Grant revenue is recognised in profit or loss when the Association satisfies the performance obligations stated 

within the funding agreements.

If conditions are attached to the grant which must be satisfied before the Association is eligible to retain the 

contribution, the grant will be recognised in the statement of financial position as a liability until those conditions are 

satisfied.

Interest

Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of 

calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using 

the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the 

expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Sales revenue

Events, fundraising and raffles are recognised when received or receivable.

9



 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

NOTE 1- STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)

Impairment of Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Trade and other receivables

Contract assets

Trade and other payables

Contract liabilities

Employee Benefits

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, 

highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known 

amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any allowance for expected credit losses.

Contract liabilities represent the Association's obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer and are 

recognised when a customer pays consideration, or when the Association recognises a receivable to reflect its 

unconditional right to consideration (whichever is earlier) before the Association has transferred the goods or 

services to the customer.

Contract assets are recognised when the Association has transferred goods or services to the customer but where 

the Association is yet to establish an unconditional right to consideration. Contract assets are treated as financial 

assets for impairment purposes.

Other long-term employee benefits

The liability for annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date 

are measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by 

employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future 

wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are 

discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and 

currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 

carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's 

carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.

Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The value-in-use 

is the present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific to 

the asset or cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent cash flows are 

grouped together to form a cash-generating unit.

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Association prior to the end of the 

financial year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not 

discounted. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

Short-term employee benefits

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave expected to 

be settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the 

liabilities are settled.

Defined contribution superannuation expense

Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
10



 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

NOTE 1- STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)

Goods and Services Tax ('GST') and other similar taxes

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted

Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

Comparative Figures

Where required by Accounting Standards comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in

presentation for the current financial year.

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 

that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and 

estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its 

judgements, estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including 

expectations of future events, management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting 

accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and 

assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities (refer to the respective notes) within the next financial year are discussed below.

Employee benefits provision

The liability for employee benefits expected to be settled more than 12 months from the reporting date are 

recognised and measured at the present value of the estimated future cash flows to be made in respect of all 

employees at the reporting date. In determining the present value of the liability, estimates of attrition rates and pay 

increases through promotion and inflation have been taken into account.

Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic

Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has had, or 

may have, on the Association based on known information. This consideration extends to the nature of the products 

and services offered, customers, supply chain, staffing and geographic regions in which the Association operates. 

Other than as addressed in specific notes, there does not currently appear to be either any significant impact upon 

the financial statements or any significant uncertainties with respect to events or conditions which may impact the 

Association unfavourably as at the reporting date or subsequently as a result of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) 

pandemic.

Estimation of useful lives of assets

The Association determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its 

property, plant and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change significantly as a result 

of technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation charge will increase where the 

useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been 

abandoned or sold will be written off or written down.

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is 

not recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset 

or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST 

recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement 

of financial position.

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet 

mandatory, have not been early adopted by the Association for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2022. 

The Association has not yet assessed the impact of these new or amended Accounting Standards and 

Interpretations.

Performance obligations under AASB 15

To identify a performance obligation under AASB 15, the promise must be sufficiently specific to be able to 

determine when the obligation is satisfied. Management exercises judgement to determine whether the promise is 

sufficiently specific by taking into account any conditions specified in the arrangement, explicit or implicil, regarding 

the promised goods and services. In making this assessment, management includes the nature/type, cost/value, 

quantity and the period of transfer related to the goods and services promised.
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 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

NOTE 2- REVENUE 2022 2021

$ $

Revenue from contracts with customers

    Pharmaceutical & Sponsorships -                           26,384                

    Projects income 162,503               321,782              

162,503               348,166              

 Other revenue

    Grant Income 1,132,514            781,031              

 Donations 305                      1,329                  

    Other Income 80,986                 50,347                

1,213,805            832,707              
Total Revenue 1,376,308            1,180,873           

NOTE 3- EXPENSES

Surplus before income tax includes the following specific expenses:

Donation -                       7,500                  

Interest paid -                           47                       

NOTE 4- REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided,

the auditor of the Association:

Auditing the Financial Report 

Portman Newton 7,480                   7,080                  

7,480                   7,080                  

NOTE 5- CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank 445,554               354,194              
Term deposit 1,623,783            822,054              
Cash on hand 215                      500                     

2,069,552            1,176,748           

NOTE 6- TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivable 5,578                   6,843                  
BAS receivable 8,067                   -                          

13,645                 6,843                  

NOTE 7- OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments 33,868                 14,730                
Key deposits 655                      655                     

34,523                 15,385                
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 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

NOTE 8 -PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 2022 2021
$ $

Buildings - independent valuation 2021 1,155,000 1,155,000           

Plant & Equipment - at cost 181,348 169,379              

Less: Accumulated Depreciation (162,701)              (149,206)             

18,647                 20,173                

Total property, plant & equipment 1,173,647            1,175,173           

NOTE 9 -TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Unsecured Liabilities

Trade creditors 79,343                 21,031                

Accrued charges 23,045                 15,483                

PAYG withholding 8,372                   7,627                  

Superannuation payable 8,090                   -                          

GST Liabilities -                           1,497                  

Other payables 6,997                   10,508                

125,847               56,146                

NOTE 10 -PROVISIONS

Current

Provision for Annual Leave 66,502 48,393

Provision for Long Service Leave 47,474 51,829

113,976               100,222              

Non-Current
Provision for Long Service Leave 15,861                 7,070                  

NOTE 11 -CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Current  

Contract liabilities 1,313,844 678,617              

1,313,844            678,617              

NOTE 12 -CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

The Association had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021.

The buildings held by the Association were valued by independent valuer Meadow Real Estate Pty Ltd, 

Mr Adrian Staltari associate member of Australian Property Institute member number 69020 dated 19 

August 2021. The fair value of the buildings was determined to be $1,155,000. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTE 13 -COMMITMENTS

A. 

Payable – minimum lease payments:

not later than 12 months                           -                      1,980 

between 12 months and five years                           -                         165 

later than five years -                       -                      
-                                          2,145 

NOTE 14 -EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

Operating Lease Commitments

The Association has elected to use the exception to lease accounting for short-term leases and leases 

of low value assets, and the lease expense relating to these leases are recognised in the statement of 

profit or loss on a straight line basis.

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2022 that has significantly affected, or may significantly 

affect the Association's operations, the results of those operations, or the Association's state of affairs in future 

financial years.

The impact of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic is ongoing and while it has been financially positive for the 

Association up to 30 June 2022, it is not practicable to estimate the potential impact, positive or negative, after the 

reporting date. The situation is rapidly developing and is dependent on measures imposed by the Australian 

Government and other countries, such as maintaining social distancing requirements, quarantine, travel restrictions 

and any economic stimulus that may be provided.

Operating lease expenditure contracted for at balance date that is not cancellable and is not provided for 

in the accounts:
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 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) 

INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

STATEMENT BY MEMBERS OF THE BOARD

Scott Harlum Danny Ryding 

President    Treasurer

Dated this 22nd day of November 2022

   

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board and is signed for and on behalf of the Board 
by:

In accordance with a resolution of the directors of National Association of People With HIV Australia (NAPWHA) 
Incorporated, the directors have determined that the Association is not a reporting entity and that this special 
purpose financial report should be prepared in accordance with the accounting policies described in Note 1 to the 
financial statements.

The financial statements and notes complying with Australian Accounting Standards to the extent 
described in Note 1 and give a true and fair view of the financial position of the registered entity as at 
30 June 2022 and of its performance for the year ended on that date.

There are reasonable grounds to believe that the registered entity is able to pay all of its debts, as and 
when they become due and payable.

1.

3.

2. This declaration is signed in accordance with subs 60.15(2) of the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Regulation 2013.
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Opinion: ABN 51 131 458 118

Basis for Opinion

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF

ABN 79 052 437 899

NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH 

HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) INCORPORATED

We have audited the financial report of National Association of People With
HIV Australia (NAPWHA) Incorporated,which comprises the statement of financial 

position as at 30 June 2022, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then 

ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 

explanatory information, and and the statement by members of the Board. 

In our opinion the accompanying financial report presents fairly, in all material respects gives a true and fair view of the 
Associations Incorporation Act 1991 (ACT), the financial position of the association as at 30 June 2022 and its financial 
performance for the year then ended in accordance with the accounting policies described in Note 1 to the financial 
statements and the requirements of the Associations Incorporation Act 1991 (ACT) and Div 60 of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are 
independent of the association in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 

Report on the Financial Report

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 16

Responsibilities of The Members of the Board for the Financial Report 

We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. The financial report has 
been prepared to assist the association to meet the requirements of the Associations Incorporation Act 1991 (ACT) and 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012. As a result, the financial report may not be suitable for 
another purpose. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Emphasis of Matter – Basis of Accounting

The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with the financial 
reporting requirements of the Associations Incorporation Act 1991 (ACT), and Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Act 2012 and for such internal control as the Board determines is necessary to enable the preparation and 
fair presentation of a financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the Board is responsible for assessing the association’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the Board either intends to liquidate the association or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to 
do so.

independent of the association in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110: Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of 
the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 16



Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
association’s internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the Board.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the association’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 17

Sydney
Date : 31-Oct-22

Wei Chong CA

Portman Newton

are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the association to cease to continue as a going 
concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and whether 
the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 17
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